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Forward-looking Statements

Certain statements in this Annual Report (Annual Report) constitute forward-looking
statements. To the extent that statements in this Annual Report are not recitations

of historical fact, such statements constitute forward-looking statements, which,

by definition, involve risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ
materially from those expressed or implied by such statements. In particular, statements
under Financial Review may contain forward-looking statements, including statements
regarding VMED O2 UK Limited and its subsidiaries (VMED O2’s or Virgin Media O2’s)
business, product, foreign currency and finance strategies in future periods, subscriber
growth and retention rates, competitive, regulatory and economic factors, the timing
and impacts of proposed transactions, the maturity of VMED O2’s markets, the
anticipated impacts of new legislation (or changes to existing rules and regulations),
anticipated changes in VMED O2’s revenue, costs or growth rates, liquidity, credit
risks, foreign currency risks, target leverage levels, VMED O2’s future projected
contractual commitments and cash flows and other information and statements

that are not historical fact.

Where, in any forward-looking statement, VMED O2 expresses an expectation or
belief as to future results or events, such expectation or belief is expressed in good
faith and believed to have a reasonable basis, but there can be no assurance that
the expectation or belief will result or be achieved. In evaluating these statements,
you should consider the risks and uncertainties discussed under the Principal Risks
and Uncertainties section within this Annual Report.


https://www.linkedin.com/company/virgin-media-o2
https://twitter.com/VMO2News
https://www.instagram.com/vmo2news/?hl=en
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Revenue

£10,360.0 million +0:1%

FY 2022 £10,360.0 million

Pro Forma FY 2021 £10,353.2 million

Adjusted Free Cash Flow (FCF)' 2

£6006.0 million

FY 2022 £666.0 million®

Transaction Adjusted Revenue'
£10,381.9 million 0.0%
FY 2022
Pro Forma FY 2021

£10,381.9 million
£10,383.3 million

Net Senior Debt to Annualised Adjusted EBITDA!

3.2/x +0.06x

FY 2022 3.27x

FY 2021

Adjusted EBITDA!

£3,931.6 million +5.2%

FY 2022 £3,931.6 million

£3,738.2 million

Pro Forma FY 2021

Transaction Adjusted EBITDA!

£3,905.4 million +6.3%

FY 2022
Pro Forma FY 2021

£3,905.4 million
£3,673.0 million

Property and Equipment (P&E) additions

£2,061.3 million +4.3%

FY 2022
Pro Forma FY 2021

£2,061.3 million
£1,977.2 million

—

Net Total Debt to Annualised Adjusted EBITDA!

3.5/x +0.05x

FY 2022

FY 2021

“l am delighted with our strong
performance where we have
delivered towards the high-end
of our 2022 guidance against
what is a challenging
macroeconomic backdrop.” /

Lutz Schiiler
CEO of Virgin Media 02

The APMs, including ‘Adjusted’ and ‘Transaction Adjusted’, are applied consistently throughout the Annual Report. The APMs are defined in full and reconciled to the

reported statutory measure in note 31 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
2. Free Cash Flow was not calculated on a Pro-Forma basis leading to no comparator for full-year 2021
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2022 HIGHLIGHTS

We have continued to develop well against our strategy
as we deliver long-term commercial momentum.

We have combined our customer-first mentality and
converged offering to deliver an experience customers
need with innovative products and services across
both networks as we upgrade the U.K. \We will keep
building on these strong foundations in 2023.

Operational Highlights

The UK'’s
largest gigabit
44.7 broadband

up to
million 1.1(;‘|Dbps network

connections

The UK'’s
largest mobile
network

speeds across

16.1 million
homes

5G
- over 1,600

towns and
cities'

higher than
the national
average
download
speed

1. Each with over 50% outdoor population coverage.
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This is our first full-year as Virgin Media O2 and
| am proud of how we have progressed as we
deliver sustained commercial momentum.

Lutz Schiler
CEO of Virgin Media O2

2022 has been a year of continued strategic, financial and
operational progress and we have delivered at pace against a
challenging macroeconomic backdrop while maintaining focus on
our three growth waves: investment in our networks; advancement
of our integration plans and progression in the initial stages of our
digital transformation. This resulted in our reaching the high-end of
our 2022 guidance with Transaction Adjusted EBITDA! (before Costs
to Capture (CTC)) in the mid-single-digit range increasing by 6.3%
to £3,905.4 million (FY 2021: £3,673.0 million) and improved trends
in transaction adjusted revenues compared to 2021.

Commercial momentum

Our unwavering focus on our customers has positioned us well in a
competitive environment and we have delivered customer growth in
2022 against a challenging macroeconomic backdrop. This would
not have been possible without our approach towards innovation, a
more detailed understanding of the customers’ needs and our ability
to maximise our offering based on speed, scale and convergence.

We started the year by being the only major mobile network not

to reintroduce E.U. roaming fees, and in August launched our new
Switch Up proposition which gives O2 customers more freedom to
flex their plan and swap their phone at any point. On the fixed side
we boosted the speeds of millions of our customers, and launched
our new Internet Protocol (IP)-based TV service, TV Stream from
Virgin Media. We also hit a major milestone with 1.3 million
customers taking our converged Volt products in just one year
since they launched - an incredible achievement which highlights
our growing convergence credentials.

Delivering against our strategic priorities

We have continued to invest heavily, with property and equipment
(P&E) additions totalling £2.1 billion in 2022 (FY 2021: £2.0 billion),

in our networks and services in order to bring connectivity to new
areas, lay foundations for the future and put the customer at the
heart of what we do. Whilst usage of our connectivity has kept
growing, there is more to come and we understand that both speed
and quality of service remain vital factors in overall experience.

From a network evolution perspective, our reach is now 161 million
homes (FY 2021: 16.6 million) and our position as the U.K’s largest
gigabit provider has been maintained. Through the year,

we expanded our fixed fibre footprint as we connected 518,800
new homes, which included 24,100 transferred to nexfibre, a joint
venture formed in December between our shareholders? and
InfraVia Capital Partners (InfraVia). Not only will we provide
construction and corporate services to this new entity but, as an
anchor tenant the additional network will extend our fibre reach to
around 80% of the country and, together with our existing network,
present a sizeable and attractive wholesale opportunity for other
providers in future. The outcome of our combined full-fibre footprint
will total 23 million homes, an increase of up to 7 million.
Additionally, we ramped up our fibre upgrade deployment and
started live trials of new XGS-PON fibre technology in customer
homes. This is all part of our plans to upgrade all our fixed

network to fibre in 2028. In our mobile network, we now have 5G
connectivity in more than 1,600 towns and cities, and are on track
to hit 50% population coverage in 2023. On top of that we boosted
our 4G capacity, which still makes up the bulk of mobile traffic,

in 725,000 postcodes.

From a synergies perspective, we exceeded our 30% of £5640
million run-rate target which included completing the migration

of all Virgin Mobile traffic onto our O2 network. We will now migrate
Virgin Mobile customers to O2 which will initiate in March 2023 and
complete by the end of the year. Additionally, total synergies will
continue to increase in 2023 and we are targeting over 50% of
£540 million run-rate at the end of the year supported by further
Mobile backhaul integration utilising our own fixed network.

In digitalisation, we are investing in upgrading and streamlining
end-to-end digital capabilities to enhance the customer-first
approach and data-driven performance management in order

to provide them with the best value for the products and services
we provide.

1. The Alternative Performance Measures (APMs), including ‘Adjusted’ and ‘Transaction Adjusted’, are applied consistently throughout the Annual Report.
The APMs are defined in full and reconciled to the reported statutory measure in note 31 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.



VMED 02 UK Limited Strategic Corporate Consolidated 7

Consolidated Annual Report Report Governance Financial

and Financial Statements Report Statements

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022

CEO STATEMENT

Better Connections Plan With digital inclusion being an area close to our hearts we doubled

- Sustainability through our lens down on our support of the National Databank, which provides free

In May we launched our Better Connections Plan and set bold mobile data, texts and calls to those who need it most, and is a

and ambitious goals across three elements: zero-carbon future, platform we pioneered with digital inclusion charity, Good Things

a circular economy and connected communities. Our targets Foundation. We have committed more than 61 million GB of free

are stretching and | am delighted with the milestones we have 02 data by the end of 2025, through our stores and a network

achieved to date. of 1,000 participating community partners nationwide we issued
35,000 vouchers (each 20GB), over 60,000 SIMs, and connected

One significant accomplishment was our receipt of the Carbon over 7500 people in 2022.

Trust certification for action towards net zero emissions becoming

one of only three U.K. businesses and the first Telecoms provider 2023 Guidance

to reach this milestone. The Carbon Trust’s Route to Net Zero Looking ahead, we expect to deliver growth in Transaction Adjusted

Standard is a robust and challenging certification to help Revenue! and mid-single-digit Transaction Adjusted EBITDA!

companies manage and reduce carbon emissions and share (before CTC) growth, with the first quarter impacted by phasing.

progress. In October, in partnership with environmental charity Additionally, we predict opex and capex CTC of approximately

Hubbub, we launched Time after Time — a new e-waste eco fund £150 million and P&E additions of around £2.0 billion. The cash

that will award grants of between £10,000 and £75,000 for creative  distribution to shareholders is anticipated to be £1.8 to £2.0 billion
U.K. projects that reduce e-waste, encourage recycling of electronic  including cash from recapitalisations to maintain leverage at the
goods and support devices being used over and over again. upper-end of the 4-bx range.

In addition, the increased cost-of-living has affected many We have firm foundations in place, a clear strategy and a team
households, including our own employees and we have stepped up  that are focused on building long-term commercial momentum
to support. In October, we introduced a one-off targeted allowance of  and | am confident we will deliver our 2023 guidance.

£1,400 for our people earning under £35,000 paid between October

2022 and July 2023. This was combined with our decision to reduce  Lutz Schiler

the cost of our Essential Broadiband social tariff to £12.50, introduce a CEO of Virgin Media O2

new, faster tier and expand the eligibility criteria of these services.

I SN D

1. The APMs, including ‘Adjusted’ and ‘Transaction Adjusted’, are applied consistently throughout the Annual Report. The APMs are defined in full and reconciled to the
reported statutory measure in note 31 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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How We Create Value

We are a converged champion and the UK.
challenger with our customers at the heart

of what we do.

Our resources

Capital investment where we
invested £2.1 billion of P&E
additions in 2022 and will
invest a further £2.0 billion

in 2023

We will continue to invest in
evolving our networks so we
can reach more customers,
enhancing our offering through
innovative propositions and
maximise the potential of our
merged business.

A portfolio of brands and
partnerships providing
the foundations on which
to develop

Our ability to meet customer
demand through a combination
of our Virgin Media, O2, Virgin
Mobile and giffgaff brands and
partnerships across content,
value added services and
distribution.

S

The largest gigabit fixed
network with average
download speeds up to
1.1Gbps to 16.1 million homes

The scale and focus of our fixed
network provide us continued
speed leadership, increased
network control, cost efficiency,
reliability and improving
customer experience
underpinning our brand value
as we invest for the future.

S

Shareholders with global
scale and experience of
value creation

Liberty Global and Telefdnica
provide Virgin Media O2 with
support in enabling expansion
through access to a large pool
of financial investments;
expertise in technology
capabilities; mergers and
acquisitions; market intelligence;
supply-chain and distribution.

The largest mobile operator
in the U.K. serving 44.7 million
connections with our 5G
network covering over 1,600
towns and cities

Our scale and data insights
enable us to offer high-
value products and benefits
including the ability to offer
excellent value for money
and improve our products
and services through a
greater understanding of
customers' needs.

Spectrum assets enabling
high quality customer
experience

Owning spectrum and mobile
infrastructure assets provides
us with control over
improvements in network
capacity, performance and
reliability, cost effective delivery
and national network
provisioning to wholesale
customers.

A7
&

17,100 diverse, experienced
and knowledgeable people
encompassing a customer-
first mentality

Virgin Media O2 brings together
Virgin Media's experience

in delivering fibre-optic
broadband, mobile and TV

and O2's expertise in mobile.
Our combined culture embeds
a customer-first approach.

023

D’)

Management team with
extensive experience in
leading telecom companies
at scale

Executives with a proven
track-record in delivering both
business and corporate strategy
at scale including motivating
large organisations; innovative
product development;
implementing an adaptable
target operating model; effective
resource allocation and
maintaining a robust balance
sheet to support growth. All of
which will deliver an increased
value to the Virgin Media O2
brand.
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What we do
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Governance Financial
Report Statements

We have a customer-first approach where we sell market leading
innovative products and services through focussed brands,

supported by strong data insight and capabilities.

NETWORK

pe)
%
)
e
5
(2]

CUSTOMER

Customer
Delivering a high-value customer experience for our
consumer and business customers

Brands and distribution

Leverage and distribute our brand portfolio of Virgin Media,
02, giffgaff and Virgin Mobile, across direct and indirect
channels including retail, online and voice channels

Products
Develop flexible and innovative products across mobile,
broadband and pay-TV

Data and capabilities
Leverage efficient digital architecture for digitalisation
of customer journeys

Network
Maintain, upgrade and utilise our network infrastructure

Our value creation for our key stakeholders

Customers
45% Fixed-Mobile 1.3 million 447 million 5.8 million
Convergence rate Volt customers mobile connections fixed-line customers
People
Organisational structure that is scaled and focused Investing in skills for the future through award winning
on the customer apprenticeship and graduate schemes
Suppliers
Leveraging the scale of Virgin Media O2 and Collaboration on environmental, social and
our shareholders purchasing power governance activities
Investors
Transaction Adjusted Revenue! £10.381.9 million Adjusted FCF' £666.0 million
Transaction Adjusted EBITDA! £3,905.4 million Shareholder dividend £1.6 billion
Communities
Equip 2 million with digital skills Enable customers to avoid 20 million Connect 1 million digitally
by 2025 tonnes of CO, by 2025 excluded people by 20256

1. The APMs, including ‘Adjusted’ and ‘“Transaction Adjusted’, are applied consistently throughout the Annual Report. The APMs are defined in full and reconciled to the
reported statutory measure in note 31 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Our Markets and Regulatory Backdrop
Our sector is constantly evolving, and by staying informed
on crucial trends, we can seize opportunities and address

potential challenges.

Growth in Fixed-Mobile
Convergence and
household relationships

Growing demand for bundled household
connectivity and services puts us in a strong
position as the UK. converged champion and
household supplier of choice, providing mobile,
broadband and pay-TV with high value customer
experience and innovative propositions.

Telecoms sector
is resilient to

Increasing demand for mobile data and fast
and reliable broadband, with these products

macroeconomic increasingly seen as essential servi(;es jn Iight
ressures of a macroeconomic backdrop of high inflation

P and low growth.

FTTH and 5G FTTH and 5G technologies will enable us to offer

customers faster and more reliable broadband
and mobile services across a larger footprint.

Next gen connectivity also opens up new revenue
streams such as advanced Internet of Things (loT),
telemedicine and remote working solutions.

Opportunities for new
entrants in the fixed
wholesale market

Higher demand by operators for high-speed
broadband coverage, coupled with nextfibre's
network expansion and our fibre upgrade, places
us in a position to become a major wholesale
supplier and benefit from new partnerships and
higher network utilisation.

Connectivity, digital
transformation and new
applications

Increasing reliance on technology for
communication and collaboration, improved
efficiency and the rise of remote work, mean
businesses require dependable, high-speed
networks to support their business operations.
We are at the centre of the industry to serve
this growing demand.
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OUR MARKETS & REGULATION

Given our scale and the market we operate in,
much of our business activity is subject to
regulation. To ensure compliance, we maintain
close relationships with various U.K. regulatory
bodies, notably Ofcom with whom we have
covered vital matters affecting both the UK.
Telecoms sector and Virgin Media O2.

Ensuring the customer is at the centre of
the industry, whilst supporting competition
and innovation

There is a significant need for regulatory conditions to support
greater fibre network investment and supply in order to:

Support for 5G investment and deployment
Ofcom and The Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport
(DCMS) eye greater investment in mobile connectivity, including 5G,

Support for Gigabit speed and fibre investment and supply supporting our rollout and customer benefits including:

Improve connectivity: 5G investment can lead to faster,

Encourage competition: help new wholesale operators enter
the market and increase competition, leading to better services
and greater value for money.

Boost economy: Fibre investment creates jobs, attracts
businesses and stimulates economic growth, which can
benefit the whole country.

Improve connectivity: Fibre networks offer faster,

more reliable and more scalable connectivity, which is
crucial for supporting digital transformation and the

growth of the U.K's digital economy.

Reduces the digital divide: Government support can

ensure that fibre networks are rolled out to areas that are
currently underserved, helping to reduce the digital divide
and increase access to high-speed internet.

Supports innovation: Fibre networks provide the high-speed,
low-latency connections required for emerging technologies
like bG, Artificial Intelligence (Al), and the Internet of Things,
helping the U.K. stay at the forefront of innovation.

more reliable and more widely available mobile connectivity,

which can improve people's daily lives and support the growth

of the UK's digital economy.

Innovation: 5G provides the high-speed, low-latency
connections required for emerging technologies like the
Internet of Things, autonomous vehicles and smart cities,
helping the U.K. stay at the forefront of innovation.
Improves public services: 5G can enable the delivery

of innovative public services, such as telemedicine,
smart transport and e-government services, making
them more accessible and efficient.

Consumer fairness and affordability

Growing public and regulatory interest in affordability and
vulnerability. Promoting fairness and affordability can help
to bridge the digital divide, ensuring that all citizens have
access to the essential communications services they
need in order to participate fully in society.

We introduced social broadband tariffs in 2021 and 2022
to support with the challenges consumers are facing during
the rising cost-of-living.
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Our Group Strategy

The scale of our network, breadth and flexibility
of offering combined with our customer
understanding underpins our customer-first
mentality and through our 17,100 people and
shareholder insight, we have the experience
and expertise to maximise value.

We are the largest mobile operator in the U.K.
serving 44.7 million connections and our 5G
network covers over 1,600 towns and cities
across the U.K. In addition, we operate the largest
gigabit fixed network providing download speeds
which average up to 1.1Gbps to 16.1 million homes.

Across these networks we provide innovative and
flexible services such as Refresh and Switch Up,

WiFi Guarantee and our flagship converged
offering, Volt, where we have now reached

1.3 million customers.

Our growth waves

Ot

Integration

02

Digital Transformation

03

Network Evolution

Delivering synergies of £640 million
with an Net Present Value (NPV) of
£6.2 billion in 2026.

Drive improvements in customer
experience in the short and long-term.

Expanding our footprint and

upgrading our capabilities by providing
high-quality connectivity that meets
the customer's needs.

Core synergy areas of revenue, Mobile
Virtual Network Operator (MVNO)
migration, backhaul, efficiencies and
Fixed-Mobile Convergence.

Synergies milestone accomplished:
Exceeded target of 30% of annualised
run-rate £540 million synergies and we
are on track to achieve over 50% by
the end of 2023.

A digital first approach, with our customers
at its heart.

Excellent customer understanding,
improved interactions and greater
engagement. Leveraging data and
analytics from our strong customer
relationships to provide the best products
and services.

Digitalising operations, such as
transactions and back office systems
for efficiency, organisation effectiveness
and to deliver best-in-class customer
experience.

Through our Fibre Upgrade project

we are upgrading our existing network
to full-fibre to future-proof our long-term
converged offering.

Expanding our 5G mobile network
which increases coverage and improves
reliability and speed.

Providing construction and corporate
services to and wholesaling from fibre JV,
nexfibre, enabling us to access up to a
further 7 million homes and expanding
our fibre footprint to 23 million homes
serviceable.
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OUR GROUP STRATEGY

Acting with a Customer-First and team-orientated mentality

i

BRAVE. REAL. TOGETHER.

Bold, creative, accountable and innovative Honest, authentic, respectful and open Supportive, empathetic, agile and inclusive
- stepping up and speaking out when it - doing what we say we will and putting — celebrating our differences and

counts and taking risks with a true ourselves in our customers' shoes. recognising each other's achievements.

challenger spirit.

Delivering our Better Connections Plan

Zero carbon future. Circularity. Communities.

We have an ambitious commitment to Zero waste future: achieve zero waste Connect one million digitally excluded
achieve net-zero carbon across operations, operations and products by 2025. Enable people across the UK. by 2025. Engaging
products and supply chain by the end 10 million circular solutions and actions to in a digital-first society to empower 2

of 2040. While enabling customers to help customers tackle e-waste by 20256. million people with digital skills and the
avoid 20 tonnes of CO, and support tools to help them by 2025.

large-scale decarbonisation by 2025.

Supported by Shareholders with global capabilities

. rd -
Telefonica

[R]:13:39%

e ®

Liberty Global is a world leader in converged broadband, video Telefénica is one of the largest telecommunications service
and mobile communications services. It delivers next-generation  providers in the world. The company offers fixed and mobile
products through advanced fibre and 5G networks that currently  connectivity as well as a wide range of digital services for
provides over 86 million connections across Europe and the residential and business customers. With more than 383 million
United Kingdom. customers, Telefénica operates in Europe and Latin America.
Telefénica ia a100% listed company and its shares are traded
on the Spanish Stock Market and on those in New York
and Lima.
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Key Performance Indicators

We measure our progress through a number
of operational, financial and non-financial
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs).

OPERATIONAL

Total Mobile Connections
(thousands)

5.7% A

Fixed-Line Customer
Relationships (thousands)

0.5% A

02 Monthly Contract Churn

10bps A

2021 0.8

Definition

The number of active SIM cards
in service rather than services
provided. For example, if a mobile
subscriber has both a data and
voice plan on a smartphone this
would equate to one mobile
subscriber. Alternatively, a
subscriber who has a voice and
data plan for a mobile handset
and a data plan for a tablet would
be counted as two mobile
subscribers. Customers who do
not pay a recurring monthly fee
are excluded from our mobile
telephony subscriber counts after
periods of inactivity of 90 days.
Total number of mobile
connections includes Consumer,
SMB, Enterprise, 0T (comprising
Machine-to-machine and Smart
Metering Implementation
Programme (SMIP)) and Mobile
Wholesale Connections.

Definition

The number of customers

who receive at least one of our
broadband, video or telephony
services, without regard to which
or to how many services they
subscribe. Fixed-Line Customer
Relationships generally are
counted on a unique premises
basis. Accordingly, if an individual
receives our services in two
premises (e.g. a primary home
and a second home), that
individual generally will count

as two Fixed-Line Customer
Relationships. We exclude
mobile-only customers from
Fixed-Line Customer
Relationships.

Definition

The rate at which contract
subscribers relinquish their
subscriptions. This is calculated
by dividing the proportion of
postpaid contract mobile
connections who have
terminated their contract
(Consumer, Small-Medium
Business (SMB), Enterprise
and Mobile Broadband) for the
period by the average base.

Development in 2022

Total mobile connections
increased 6.7% to 44.7 million
(FY 2021: 42.2 million) driven by
an increase in mobile contract,
loT and Wholesale connections.
This was partially offset by a
decrease in prepaid connections.

Development in 2022
Fixed-line customer relationships
increased 0.5% to 5.8 million
(FY 2021: 5.8 million). In the

first quarter 2022, decreased
marketing activity led to lower
customer acquisitions. This was
more than offset by positive
momentum gained in net
additions during the second half
of the year following growth in
the footprint of the fixed network.

Development in 2022

02’s monthly contract churn
increased 10 basis points (bps)
to 0.9% (FY 2021: 0.8%) despite
a small increase linked to
customers closing accounts but
not porting to other networks.
Our continued customer-first
decisions, such as not
reintroducing E.U. roaming
charges in 2022, have led to O2’s
churn remaining stable and low.

14
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FINANCIAL

Transaction Adjusted Revenue'
(£ millions)

0%

10,3819

10,383.3

Revenue
(£ millions)

01% A

10,360.0

10,353.2

Transaction Adjusted EBITDA'
(£ millions)

0.3% A

Adjusted EBITDA!
(£ millions)

5.2% A

3,9316

2021 3,738.2

Definition

Revenue which has been
normalised for certain
adjustments which have been
made to more accurately
represent the performance

of the underlying operations.
These adjustments reflect
the fair value measurement
required, in connection with
the completion of the joint
venture, where the opening
balance sheet of the combined
business was reported at its
estimated fair value.

Definition

We derive our revenue from
residential and Business-to-
Business (B2B) communications
services, including mobile,
proadband internet, video and
fixed-line telephony services.
Where multiple products

and services are provided

in a proposition, we allocate
revenue proportionally to each
performance obligation within
the contract based on the
relative standalone selling price,
recognising revenue as each
performance obligation is
satisfied. For hardware sales,
this is on transfer of the asset,
for connectivity services over
the contract period as the
service is used by the customer.

Definition

Adjusted EBITDA which has
been normalised for certain
adjustments which have been
made to more accurately
represent the performance

of the underlying operations.
These adjustments reflect

the fair value measurement
required, in connection with the
completion of the joint venture,
where the opening balance
sheet of the combined business
was reported at its estimated
fair value.

Definition

Adjusted EBITDA is the primary
measure used by our chief
operating decision maker to
evaluate operating performance
and is also a key factor that is
used by our internal decision
makers to (i) determine how

to allocate resources and (ii)
evaluate the effectiveness of
our management for purposes
of annual and other incentive
compensation plans. For further
detall see financial notes.

Development in 2022

Total Transaction Adjusted
Revenue was flat at £10,381.9
million (FY 2021: £10,383.3
million) with increased Mobile
service revenue offset by a
decline in Fixed and Mobile
handset revenues.

Development in 2022

Total Revenue increased by 0.1%
to £10,360.0 million (FY 2021:
£10,353.2 million) with increased
Mobile service revenue offset
by a decline in Fixed-line and
Mobile handset revenues.

Development in 2022
Transaction Adjusted EBITDA
increased by 6.3% to £3,905.4
million (FY 2021: £3,673.0 million),
with key drivers of growth being
the realisation of synergies, cost
efficiencies and a one-off
release of £30.0 million in the
third quarter, following the
resolution of a legal matter for
which there is no impact on
cash. This was partially offset
by increased energy costs.

Development in 2022
Adjusted EBITDA increased
5.2% to £3,931.6 million (FY
2021: £3,738.2 million), with key
drivers of growth being the
realisation of synergies, cost
efficiencies and a one-off
release of £30.0 million in the
third quarter, following the
resolution of a legal matter for
which there is no impact on
cash. This was partially offset
by increased energy costs.

1. The APMs, including ‘Adjusted’” and ‘Transaction Adjusted’, are applied consistently throughout the Annual Report. The APMs are defined in full and reconciled to the
reported statutory measure in note 31 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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FINANCIAL
Adjusted Free Cash Flow'2 P&E Additions Net Total Debt to Annualised
(FCF) (£ millions) (£ millions) Adjusted EBITDA!' (times)

Net Senior Debt to Annualised
Adjusted EBITDA!' (times)

N/A - 43% A 005x A 006x A
2022 666.0 2022 2,061.3 2022 357 2022 3.27
Definition Definition Definition Definition

The ratio of net total debt
(defined as net senior covenant
debt and swapped unsecured
debt) to last two quarters
annualised EBITDA after
prescribed adjustments.

Includes capital expenditures

on an accrual basis, amounts
financed under vendor
financing or lease arrangements
and other non-cash additions,
but excludes CTC capex costs.

Net cash provided by our
operating activities, plus
expenses financed by an
intermediary, less (i) capital
expenditures, as reported in
our consolidated statements

of cash flows, (i) principal
payments on amounts financed
by vendors and intermediaries
and (iii) principal payments

on certain finance leases.

We believe that our presentation
of FCF, provides useful
information to our investors
because this measure can

be used to gauge our ability

to service debt and fund new
investment opportunities.

The ratio of net senior debt
(defined as net senior covenant
debt) to last two quarters
annualised EBITDA after
prescribed adjustments.

Development in 2022

FCF was £666.0 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022.
We made a cash distribution to
shareholders of £1,600.0 million
for the year ended 31 December
2022.

Development in 2022

P&E additions increased 4.3%
to £2,061.3 million (FY 2021:
£1,977.2), with drivers of the
increase including increased
fixed network rollout, the start
of rollout of our Fibre Upgrade
programme after completing
a trial in the first quarter and
further investment in 5G.

Development in 2022

Net Total Debt to Annualised

pro forma adjusted EBITDA
increased from 3.52x to 3.57x
from 31 December 2021 to 31
December 2022. This was below
the covenant level of 5.00x.

Development in 2022

Net Total Debt to Annualised

pro forma adjusted EBITDA
increased from 3.21x to 3.27x
from 31 December 2021 to 31
December 2022. This was below
the covenant level of 4.00x.

1. The APMs, including ‘Adjusted’ and ‘Transaction Adjusted’, are applied consistently throughout the Annual Report. The APMs are defined in full and reconciled to the

reported statutory measure in note 31 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
2. Pro forma was not calculated for FCF, as such no comparator has been shown for FY 2021 period.
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NON-FINANCIAL

Employee Engagement

0%

Direct Emissions -
Scope 1and 2 Carbon Dioxide
emissions tonnes (tCO.e)

-14% v

Number of people benefiting
from programmes in
Digital skills' (millions)

N/A

Gender Pay Gap?
(%)

N/A

Definition

Our primary metric of employee
engagement is sustainable
engagement collected by
anonymous employee surveys.
Sustainable engagement
focusing on three key areas;

(i) Engagement: people are
engaged - they are proud to
work here, go the extra mile, and
believe in the organisational goals
and objectives (i) Enablement:
the organisation provides the
support employees need to

do their work (iii) Energy: the
organisation creates a healthy
work environment — one that
supports employees physical,
social, and emotional wellbeing.
Employee Engagement is
measured on a scale of 0 - 100.

Definition

Metric tons of (Carbon Dioxide
emissions) COe. Direct
emissions (Scope 1) from fuel
consumption and leakage of
refrigerant gases in our
operations, as well as indirect
emissions from secondary
energy sources (Scope 2).

Definition

The calculation is based on the
number of people accessing
digital skills and training via
the Internet Matters website,
registrations on Learn My Way
and Carer’s UK. resources
which include new users of
Digital Resource Centre (DRC),
new users of the Jointly app
for carers.

Definition

Mean hourly pay gap between
male and female employees
as at bth April 2022.

Development in 2022
Employee Engagement
remained unchanged at 79

in FY 2022 (FY 2021:79). The
survey highlighted several key
strengths — 86% of respondents
feel proud to be associated

with the company, 87% that
their performance is improved
by conversations with their

line managers and 84% that
they get a personal sense of
accomplishment from their work.

Development in 2022

We remain on a science-based
target pathway and on course
for our 20256 target to reduce
operational (Scopes 1and 2)
emissions by 60%, with a 29%
reduction in 2022 against our
2020 baseline.

See further on definition and
development in 2022 in the
Streamlined Energy and Carbon
Report on page 47.

Development in 2022

To help disadvantaged people
across the UK. (including those
on low incomes, global majority
communities, low-skilled
workers, and older people) get
online and gain vital digital skills,
we have pledged £2 million to
Good Things Foundation as part
of a new three-year partnership.

See further as part of the Better
Connections Plan on page 39.

1. Excludes 2021 comparator because the combined ESG strategy was launched in 2022.

2. Excludes 2021 comparator as joint venture had not completed at time of reporting.

Development in 2022

We have a narrow pay

gap of 2% in favour of men.
Our ambition is to increase
gender representation as part
of our All In Diversity, Equity and
Inclusion strategy, see further
on page 43.
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Mobile revenue as a percentage of total Group
Transaction Adjusted Revenue!

57% Mobile

Year ended 31 December
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2022 2021 Increase (decrease)
actual pro forma %

Mobile KPI’s
Reported Revenue (£ million) 5,913.7 5,8121 17
Transaction Adjusted Revenue' (£ million) 5,913.7 5,8121 17
Handset (£ million) 16146 16290 (09)
Retail Connections 33,831,400 32,276,800 4.8
Mobile 24,055,900 24,057100 -
Contract 16,087,600 15,938,000 09
Prepaid 7,968,300 8119100 (19)
loT 9,775,500 8,219,700 189
Wholesale Connections 10,818,600 9,966,600 85
Total Mobile Connections 44,650,000 42,243,400 5.7
Retail new additions 1,554,600 1,940,200 (19.9)
Mobile net additions (losses) (9,300) 21,100 (104.4)
Contract net additions 141,500 343,800 (58.8)
Prepaid net losses (150,800) (132,700) 136
loT net additions 15663,900 1,729100 (96)
Wholesale net additions 852,000 755,800 12.7
Total Mobile net additions 2,406,600 2,696,000 (10.7)
02 monthly contract churn 0.9% 0.8% +10bps

Financials in £ million to one decimal place, volumes reported to the nearest hundred

1 The APMs, including ‘Adjusted’ and ‘Transaction Adjusted’, are applied consistently throughout the Annual Report. The APMs are defined in full and reconciled to the

reported statutory measure in note 31 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Through our brands O2, Virgin Mobile and giffgaff we provide a wide
range of mobile telecommunications and value-added services. As
well as voice, messaging, and data services we provide customers
with handsets and hardware (such as wearables), stand-alone
mobile devices and accessories and a number of value-added
products and services including a digital loyalty programme.

Services are acquired by consumers and SoHo (Small or Home
Office) customers through online, voice, and retail (including
franchise). They purchase a SIM card, or an embedded eSIM,
either with or without a handset through Prepaid (also termed

‘Pay As You Go’) and Contract (also termed ‘Pay Monthly’) models
providing access to the O2 network. Prepaid customers have

the option to purchase a handset upfront and in-full. Contract
customers have access to the ‘Custom Plan’ proposition (02
Refresh) enabling them to spread the cost of their handset over
different terms, flex their data up and down or upgrade. Virgin
Mobile customers can access ‘Freestyle’ contracts, which provide
customers with the flexibility to purchase a handset independently
of an airtime contract. As announced in January 2023, Virgin Mobile
customers are being transferred onto the O2 network in 2023.

In addition, we offer paid products and services with the aim of
leveraging our strong position in the U.K. mobile service market
and monetising additional growth opportunities, including (i) mobile
and tablet insurance, (i) international calling bolt-ons which allow
customers to make international calls from 1p per minute for £3

per month, and (iii) the O2 Travel bolt-on, which allows customers
to call, text and use data at significantly reduced rates (compared
with O2’s standard rates) while roaming abroad.

Our customer-first approach is designed to maintain and
increase our large, loyal customer base and to drive value for
our stakeholders with our key products summarised below:

Summary of products and services:

a. Priority: Priority is one of the U.K’’s largest digital loyalty and
engagement programmes, offering customers a range of
exclusive deals and offers through a mobile app, as well as
48 hours early access to presale tickets for music, comedy
and sports events across the UK, including The O2, O2 Academy
venues based in twenty-one locations across the UK,

England Rugby matches at Twickenham and over 600
venues nationwide. We have saved customers approximately
£20 million from offers in 2022 and more than £200 million
since the platform launched. Our Virgin Mobile customers will
start to have access to these services through 2023 as they
are migrated to the O2 brand.

b. 02 WiFi: O2 WiFi provides access to free WiFi at over 16,600
locations across the UK. as of December 2022. It is offered free
to end users regardless of their network. It had approximately
11.8 million unique users as at December 2022. 02 WiFi supports
the connectivity needs of customers, as well as gaining access
to a wider potential customer base, introducing them to the
02 brand experience. O2 WiFi has also been developed for
business customers.

c. Communications: WiFi Calling (also called Voice over WiFi or
VoWiFi), allows customers to make and receive calls even if they
cannot connect to the mobile network. 4G Calling (also called
Voice over LTE or VOLTE) allows customers to make calls using
its 4G network, for a higher definition, clearer voice call. In 4G
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Calling areas, WiFi and 4G Calling work together to provide a
seamless and uninterrupted experience as customers move
from one to another, thereby ensuring that no calls are dropped.

d. Payment Services: Charge to Mobile allows customers to buy
digital content through their handset, with the cost of the product
added to their monthly mobile bill for Contract customers or
taken from their mobile credit for Prepaid customers. Customers
now have the option to spread the cost of non-cellular hardware
over £100 over a maximum of 36 months. This includes high end
audio, game consoles, tablet accessories and more.

e. 02 Extras: O2 Extras gives our customers the ability to access
services from some of the leading brands in the market, such as
Disney, Amazon and McAfee today to enjoy (for a free period) as
part of their tariff.

Performance

a) Operational

At 31 December 2022, we had 44.7 million mobile subscribers
comprising of retail contract and prepaid connections, internet
of things connections, and wholesale connections. This was an
increase of 2.4 million on the prior year with increases in mobile
contract, loT and Wholesale connections, partially offset by a
decrease in prepaid connections.

Contract net additions of 141,500 were supported by stronger
trading in the second half of the year, particularly the fourth quarter
with the key periods of Black Friday and Christmas. O2’s monthly
contract churn rate remained low but increased to 0.9% (FY 2021
0.8%) as we saw an increase in customers closing accounts but
not porting to other networks, thought to be linked to customers
closing non-essential accounts.

b) Revenue

Against a challenging macroeconomic backdrop, intensified by
the war in Ukraine, we delivered a good performance driven by
our choice to enhance our proposition offering as we invested
and focussed on the customer. During the year we launched two
standout customer centric propositions enabling differentiation

in the market. In March we announced that we would be the only
major mobile operator to not introduce E.U. roaming fees, and, in
August, our launch of ‘Switch Up’ allows customers to switch to a
brand-new phone at any point during their contract with no extra
charges when taking a plus plan tariff or adding a bolt on. We had
a stronger than expected trading period through the fourth quarter,
particularly during Black Friday.
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i) Handset Revenue

Handset revenue includes amounts received from residential and
B2B customers for the sale of mobile handsets. Handset revenues
declined by 0.9% to £1,614.6 million (FY 2021: £1,629.0 million).

There was a decline in handset transactions in 2022 driven by a
decline in handset volume after the first quarter, linked to household
optimisation due to increased inflationary pressures, which meant
customers held onto their handsets for longer.

ii) Service Revenue

Service revenue includes amounts received from residential and
B2B customers for ongoing services and, amongst other items,
interconnect revenue. Service revenues increased by 2.8% in
the year to £4,2991 million (FY 2021: £4,1831 million).

Following the execution of price rise (see further in Strategic and
Operational Development), effective in April, the second quarter
saw an increase in service revenues. Outbound Roaming revenue
started to increase as activity was slowly regaining within the
leisure and tourism industry, however whilst usage levels were
above pre-pandemic levels, this was driven by non-revenue
generating countries.

The summer period saw the benefit of Roaming revenues increasing
further due to the seasonal impact of customers going on holiday
and spending more time outdoors, requiring additional data. Black
Friday trading supported fourth quarter revenue growth, particularly
strong positioning in Affiliates across both Handset and SIM only.

Strategic and Operational Development

We regularly review how we operate our retail estate to ensure

we can continue to deliver the great service our customers expect
in a competitive environment. In 2022 we carried out a review of
our retail estate considering several factors and commercial drivers
that have informed the decision to take our retail strategy in a new
direction. In September we took a decision to end our Franchise
relationships, bringing many stores into company ownership.

We are investing in a refurbishment programme to enhance
customer experience in these stores and offering new recruitment
opportunities, for impacted employees. We remain committed

to working with, and supporting, franchise owners and franchise
employees through the closure programme as it gets underway.
02’s total number of stores was 384 at the end of 2022.

In April each year, as stated clearly within terms and conditions,
customers’ Airtime Plan will be increased by January’s Retail Price
Index (RPI) rate of inflation, announced in February, plus 3.9% if the
contract started from 26th March 2021. For contracts that began
prior to that date the increase will be RPI rate only. In 2022, the
January RPI rate was 7.8%, meaning an increase in Airtime Plan

of 11.7% for customers, compared to 17.3% in 2023. As Virgin Mobile
and O2 applies price increases to only the airtime in the vast
majority of contracts, the average effective increase to a customer’s
total bill in 2023 (including handset) was approximately 10.0%.
These price increases come amid increased business costs
including rising energy prices, plus the capacity and infrastructure
investment required to support the growing demand on our
network which has almost doubled in the last three years.
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In January 2023, we announced that in February 2023, we would
be sending communications to the first cohort of Virgin Mobile
customers to inform them that their current service contracts would
be transferred to the O2 network. Hardware contracts will remain
with Virgin Media until the end of the contract term. As part of this
migration, millions of customers will move to a new similar O2 plan
with no increase in cost, but with many receiving added value such
as increased data and benefits including access to Priority from
02 and continued inclusive E.U. roaming. Customers are given a
right to cancel within 30 days of receiving the communication.

This represents a key pillar in Virgin Media O2’s integration, with
the first stage of this plan completed at the end of 2022 when the
entire Virgin Mobile base transferred over to using the O2 network
- so all data, voice and text traffic is already using the company’s
connectivity. This stage marks the moment when customer plans
start moving over to O2 for the first time.
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FIXED

Fixed revenue as a percentage of total Group
Transaction Adjusted Revenue?

57% Mobile
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38% Fixed

Year ended 31 December
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2022 2021
actual pro forma Increase (decrease)
Total Total %
Fixed KPI’s
Reported Revenue (£ million) 3,953.6 4,086.2 (8.2)%
Transaction Adjusted Revenue' (£ million) 3,970.7 4.110.3 (8.4)%
Fixed-Line Customer Relationships 5,795,500 5,768,300 0.5%
Broadband Connections 5,653,800 5,596,800 10%
Fixed-Line Customer Relationship net additions 27,200 141,600 (80.8)%
Broadband Customer Relationship net additions 57000 176,700 (67.7)%
45% 45% -%

Fixed Mobile Convergence

Financials in £ million to one decimal place, volumes reported to the nearest hundred

We provide a choice of packages and tariffs within each of

our fixed-line and fixed-mobile converged product categories.
This includes Broadband Internet, Fixed-Line Telephony and
Television alongside converged packages with Contract Mobile
Telephony. Customers are charged a recurring rental fee for the
package with additional out-of-bundle, transactional and one-off
charges. Services are acquired by consumers through online,
voice, retail and field sales channels.

Our converged offering enables customers to benefit from one
supplier for all of their telecommunication and video entertainment
needs. Fast and reliable broadband is of crucial importance to our

customers, as they spend more time streaming video and other
bandwidth-heavy services on multiple devices. Customers across
our fixed footprint are able to access gigabit download speeds,
with an average speed across our broadband base of 301Mbps,
which is approximately 5 times higher than the national average.
Our entertainment propositions, accessed through a set-top-box,
offer customers a seamless and personal entertainment
experience bringing together the top TV channels and streaming
apps as well as the ability to watch content on the go with the
Virgin Media TV Go app.

1. The APMs, including ‘Adjusted’” and ‘Transaction Adjusted’, are applied consistently throughout the Annual Report. The APMs are defined in full and reconciled to the
reported statutory measure in note 31 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Volt is our fixed-mobile converged proposition with customers
benefiting from the best of both brands with faster broadband
speeds, double mobile data, WiFi pods to boost connectivity,
discounts on connected devices and roaming with O2 Travel.
Volt is available to both new and existing customers when they
combine a Virgin Media broadband package with an eligible
Contract mobile plan from O2.

Performance

a) Operational

At 31 December 2022, we had 5.8 million fixed-line customers, with
fixed-line customer net additions of 27,200 over the year supported
by continued demand for fast and high-quality connectivity.

Fixed-Mobile convergence (FMC) penetration stood at 45%,
which represents the number of customers who subscribe to
both a broadband internet service and contract mobile service,
divided by the number of customers who subscribe to our
broadband internet service. FMC was unchanged compared to
prior year, the primary activity was customers migrating from
earlier FMC bundles such as Oomph to our lead proposition Volt.

b) Revenue

Total Fixed revenues decreased by 3.2% to £3,953.6 million

(FY 2021: £4,086.2 million) following a decline in both subscription
and other revenue.

i) Consumer fixed — subscription

Consumer fixed subscription revenue includes revenue from
subscribers who purchase bundled services at a discounted

rate and is generally allocated proportionally to each service based
on the standalone price for each individual service. As a result,
changes in the standalone pricing of our fixed-line and mobile
products or the composition of bundles can contribute to
changes in our product revenue categories from period to period.
Additionally, we include revenue from certain SoHo subscribers
who pay a premium price to receive expanded service levels that
are the same or similar to the mass-marketed products offered
to our residential subscribers.

Consumer fixed subscription revenues decreased by 1.2% to
£3,329.7 million (FY 2021: £3,369.9 million) with growth in fixed-line
customers offset by changes in customer mix and retention impact
following increasingly challenging macroeconomic backdrop and
some optimisation of consumer spending. This was partially offset
by an average fixed price rise of approximately 6.6%, effective from
1March 2022.

if) Consumer fixed — other

Consumer fixed other revenue includes, amongst other items,
channel carriage fees, late fees and revenue from the sale of
equipment. Other revenue decreased by 11.8% to £69.0 million
(FY 2021: £78.2 million) primarily driven by a reduction in
cancellation fees after a removal of early disconnect fees for
off-network movers.

i) B2B fixed
B2B fixed rental comprises of revenues from business customers
for fixed line services.
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B2B fixed revenue decreased by 13.0% to £654.9 million (FY 2021:
£6381 million) primarily driven by a high level of installation revenue
for high-capacity data services within Wholesale in the prior year,
which in turn reduced the size of the annuity base.

For further detail on B2B fixed see the Divisional Overview —
Business-to-Business, page 24.

Strategic and Operational Development

Since the merger in 2021 we have focused on continuing our
commercial momentum, driving convergence, digitalising our
business, and unlocking the benefits of our fixed network.

a) Commercial Momentum

In April 2022 we launched a new, flexible entertainment service TV
Stream from Virgin Media that gives customers an affordable way
to access their favourite entertainment with no long-term contract
or ongoing charges for the basic package and benefiting from 10%
credit on any subscriptions that they add via their Virgin Media bill.

Fast and reliable broadband is of crucial importance to our
customers and in September 2022 we launched the UK'’s fastest
WiFi Guarantee promising minimum download speeds of 20Mbps
in every room or £100 back, so customers can work, play and
stream safe in the knowledge their connectivity needs are covered.
In addition we gave millions of customers a broadband speed
boost at no extra cost in November, increasing both download

and upload speeds, offering customers more value from their
broadband services.

2022 has seen an increasingly challenging macroeconomic
context, through which we have continued to provide high quality
services while supporting our customers. We were one of the
first providers to launch a social tariff to support customers facing
financial difficulty. In October 2022, we reduced the price of our
social tariff and in November 2022, launched a faster 50Mbps
service and we have since taken further steps to expand the
eligibility criteria of these services to make signing up easier.

In the first quarter of 2022, we informed some customers of price
increases which averaged approximately 6.5%, effective from
1March 2022, giving customers the right to cancel for 30 days.
Some cohorts are excluded from price rises, including vulnerable
customers on Essential Broadband and Talk Protected tariffs. In the
first quarter 2023 we have announced price rises which averaged
approximately 13.8%, in addition to an updated set of terms and
conditions where RPI +3.9% will now be effective for 2024.

b) Driving Convergence

We aim to increase penetration of FMC through acquisition of new
customers, cross-sell of new products into respective fixed and
mobile bases and enrolment of existing customers.

During the year we reached 1.3 million Volt customers, just a year
after launch, with customers benefitting from faster broadband
speeds, double mobile data, WiFi pods to boost connectivity,
discounts on connected devices and roaming with O2 Travel.

In October 2022 we launched a series of new Volt offers exclusively
for small businesses, providing more speed, more data and more
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value with any customer taking a Voom broadband service from
Virgin Media Business and an eligible O2 Small Business mobile
tariff able to choose from free O2 4G back-up for their Voom Fibre
broadband or a boost to the next Voom speed tier — and as O2
customers, they also have the option to double their mobile data
for free or receive a free 4G mobile hotspot at no extra cost.

Additionally, we continue to deliver integration benefits from
combining our operations across marketing, service, supply chain
and SoHo to benefit from scale, efficiencies and sharing best practice.

c) Digitalising our Business

Throughout the year the macroeconomic backdrop has been
challenging and we have used this time proactively to understand
our customers needs. As part of this we have broadened and
increased the flexibility of our product offering. This has been done
through our data and digitalisation, underpinning our development
and customer-value approach.

We have continued to gain digital market share in acquisition
through a focus on digital journey improvements and traffic
efficiency. We also moved to a new technology platform for in-life
cross sell and upsell, enabling improved customer journeys and
wider targeting to drive conversion.

23
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BUSINESS-TO-BUSINESS

In B2B we remain committed to showcasing the role that connectivity
can play in helping U.K. businesses grow and thrive, both now and in
the future. We provide products and services to Large Enterprise,
Public Sector and Small and Medium Business customers as well
as Wholesale and Mobile Virtual Network Operator (MVNO) partners.
Through our converged offering we provide flexibility and choice with
connectivity solutions across our award-winning Fixed and Mobile
networks, as well as integrated Voice, Mobility, Security, and Cloud
solutions. Additionally, we leverage our expertise and understanding
of the customer through our data assets to create customer-first
solutions through 5G Private Networks, and |oT connectivity,
empowering customers to solve real-time business challenges and
harness innovation. In 2022 Business Mobile revenue is reported in
the Mobile division, B2B Fixed revenue within the Fixed division and
other products including SMIP and Information and Communication
Technology (ICT) revenues within Other.

Strategic and Operational Development

In 2022, we have progressed in delivering our integration creating
value for customers as we leverage our Fixed and Mobile networks.
At the beginning of the year we launched our joint business brand,
Virgin Media O2 Business, to bring a single, cohesive voice to the
market and introduced several propositions under the joint brand.
In March we launched Success Agreements across Fixed and
Mobile solutions, offering bespoke agreements built on tangible
customer outcomes. In May, we launched our Get More fund,
enabling customers to claim a fund to spend on technology when
they combine their Fixed and Mobile connectivity through us.

Throughout the year we introduced new, innovative and upgraded
solutions. We rolled out 1.0Gbps Business Broadband, offering small
businesses the fastest broadband across our entire UK. network,
and upgraded our converged offering, Volt, adding 4G mobile
broadband support ensuring customers are always connected.
Adding to our wider multi-vendor Software-Defined Wide Area
Network (SD-WAN) solutions, we launched Smart Internet Access
to keep customers connected with faster, more secure and
co-managed internet access. For our Wholesale customers,

we launched a new core network for National High-Capacity
Services, enabling simpler, faster delivery of high-bandwidth,
ultra-low-latency connectivity.
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Throughout the year, our scale and broad product offering as

a merged business has supported our ability to acquire new
customers and enable increased cross-portfolio sales within

our customer base. We have deployed innovative solutions such
as body-worn video services for a major police force and saw
particular success in bringing Mobile services to our Fixed
customer base in the Public Sector. Additionally, we have been
ahead of the market with our deployment of 6G Private Networks
which continues to be a key growth area. In January, we launched
the first multi-site private network for British Sugar, and in July we
switched on the UK's first 5G-connected hospital with South
London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust.

We are proud to have been recognised by our industry and
partners for keeping our customers at the heart of what we do

as we have integrated as one business, winning two awards at
the Customer Experience Awards, and being named Cisco’s UK.
& Ireland Customer Experience Partner of the Year. We were also
delighted to see our converged business brand awarded ‘Best Use
of Content Marketing” and ‘Best Use of Customer Insight’ at the
B2B Marketing Awards, and to see continued industry confidence
in our solutions, winning ‘Best Mobile Network for Business’ at
the Mobile Industry Awards and being recognised as a Leader

in three categories for our Managed WAN Services at the ISG
Provider Lens™ Awards.
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DIVISIONAL OVERVIEW CONTINUED

OTHER REVENUE

Other revenue as a percentage of total Group
Transaction Adjusted Revenue?

57% Mobile 38% Fixed

Performance

a) Revenue

Other revenues include revenue from SMIP, the provision of ICT Other revenues increased by 8.3% to £492.7 million (FY 2021:
services, and associated connectivity to business customers and £4564.9 million) driven by increases in insurance, ICT, SMIP and
other services such as mobile insurance. From December 2022 services provided to nexfibre.

this also includes revenues related to construction and corporate
services provided to nexfibre (for more information on nexfibre
see the network section in Divisional Overview on page 26).

1. The APMs, including ‘Adjusted’” and ‘Transaction Adjusted’, are applied consistently throughout the Annual Report. The APMs are defined in full and reconciled to the
reported statutory measure in note 31 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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NETWORKS
Year ended 31 December
2022 2021
actual pro forma Increase (decrease)

Total Total %
Networks KPI’s
Homes Passed 16,144,600 15,649,000 32%
Additional Homes Passed 518,800 339100 53.0%
Own Network 494,700 339100 459%
Transferred to nexfibre 24,100 0
Total Mobile Connections 44,650,000 42243400 57%
5G Towns and Cities over 1,600 over 300

We have combined ‘the U.K’s favourite mobile network operator’,
02, with 44.7 million mobile connections with a fixed line network,
Virgin Media, that offers the U.K’s fastest widely-available speeds
to 16.1 million homes. This provides customers with a fixed gigabit-
ready service across broadband, digital TV, B2B services and
home phone as well as a mobile network providing 2G, 3G, 4G
and 5G services to consumers, MVNO partners (including Tesco
Mobile, Sky Mobile and giffgaff), businesses and public sector
organisations. Our 5G network now covers over 1,600 towns

and cities across the U.K. and we are set to deliver 5G services

to 50% of the population with outdoor coverage in 2023.

Fixed Network

Our fixed network is entirely Gigabit-capable and we deliver
broadband internet and video services to the end customer over a
mix of technologies with this evolving over time. In the Hybrid-Fibre-
Coax (HFC) zones, there are considerable spectrum and associated
bandwidth capabilities using Data Over Cable Service Interface
Specification (DOCSIS) 3.0 and DOCSIS 3.1. We currently offer
download speed tiers of 11Gbps for consumers, and 1.0Gbps for
Business customers and we have conducted trials to investigate
higher downstream speeds of 2.2Gbps in several regions.

Our fixed network is underpinned not just by a deep-fibre footprint,
but also a set of 500 technical site buildings that perform different
roles in the network architecture, and can be variously termed
Hubsites, Headends, Core Points of Presence (POPs), and data
centres. This building footprint gives us an advantage for the future in
the expectation that networks evolve towards low-latency regional
interconnection and edge compute points, and to support emerging
Virtualised Mobile RAN architectures that have tight latency constraints.

For fixed-line telephony services, historically we have used a twisted
copper pair access network. However, more recently we have
delivered IP voice services to the customer as a specialised service
over DOCSIS technology. TV services are in the main provided using
traditional Digital Video Broadcasting — Cable (DVB-C) technology,
however in 2022 we launched a next generation IP-delivered TV
service, TV Stream from Virgin Media, using a compact IP Set Top
Box, wholly delivered from within our IP network. As a result of the

extensive use of fibre in our access network, we are also able to
provide high-speed data network services to business customers
delivering nationwide connectivity when complementing with off
network B2B access solutions.

As part of the expansion of our network through Project Lightning,
we have built to millions of homes using FTTH technology called
Radio Frequency over Glass (RFOG). Today this sub-footprint
leverages DOCSIS 3.0 and DOCSIS 31 to deliver the same set

of services as HFC zones using the same in-home equipment.

In 2022, we rolled out 518,800 homes as part of our growth wave to
expand and upgrade our network. This includes 24,100 homes that
were subsequently transferred to the new fibre joint venture, nexfibre,
which was announced by Telefonica, Liberty Global and InfraVia in
July 2022, with the transaction completing in December 2022. Virgin
Media O2 is the anchor tenant of this joint venture and will provide
build services to nexfibre. The deployment of full fibre to upgrade
our existing network gained traction in 2022 as we remain on track
to complete our entire network upgrade by 2028. The total fibre
footprint will cover up to 23 million or around 80% of the UK.

In 2022 we have trialled and commmenced builds of both greenfield
(via Project Lightning) and brownfield (via our announced Fibre
Upgrade project) deployments using XGS-PON technology.

This symmetric 10-Gigabit Passive Optical Network (PON) is our
strategic architecture, and these initial footprints are expected to
be placed live into service during 2023. The passive fibre aspects of
these deployments will be reusable for further technologies beyond
XGS-PON in the decades to come. The Fibre Upgrade project
commenced in 2022 and aims to overlay all coaxial HFC and RFOG
areas with a parallel XGS-PON FTTH capability by 2028.

In 2023 we plan to capitalise further on the upgrade to fibre of our
existing fixed network and the rollout of additional coverage for
nexfibre in addition to the further optimisation of our existing fixed
network infrastructure to support our mobile network nationwide
through our backhaul network (the transport link between the
mobile sites and our core network).
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Mobile Network

At the end of the year, our network consisted of approximately
20,000 macro mobile sites (including approximately 15,000 under
the network sharing partnership with Vodafone). This includes 2G,
3G, 4G and 5G base stations (connecting handsets to our mobile
network using available spectrum), backhaul, the core network
(composed of data centres which store customer information and
location and switching sites which route voice calls and data to
their intended destination) and a service layer (which provides
messaging and voicemail capabilities).

As at the end of December 2022, we had 99.6% population
coverage (outdoor) and 99% population coverage (indoor) on our
4G network, as well as 82% 4G geographic (landmass) coverage.

Utilising our low band and high band spectrum purchased in the 2021
Ofcom 5G Spectrum Auction, our 5G rollout saw us reach 42.7%
of the population with outdoor coverage in 2022. This puts us well
placed to reach our target of 50% 5G population coverage in 2023.

We ended 2022 with 5G coverage in over 1,600 towns and cities
(covering over 50% of the outdoor population in each).

a) Network development and spectrum management

In addition to our 5G rollout, we have also continued to focus

on network reliability and providing a consistent 4G connectivity
experience for our customers. To keep pace with our customers’
demands, we have added additional 4G capacity to over 725,000
separate UK. postcodes during 2022. We have done this through
spectrum refarming (re-using our 2G and 3G spectrum on our 4G
network) as well as adding new additional spectrum. (see Licences
and Frequencies section).

We continued to deploy small cells to increase capacity, particularly
in busy urban areas where there is not enough room for full scale
mast sites. We now have over 1,400 Small Cells in London and have
begun rolling them out to other major UK. cities in 2022.

The industry is obliged (along with the other major MNOs in the
U.K) to deliver high-quality 4G geographic coverage to at least
90% of the UK. landmass by January 2027, supporting the
objectives of the Shared Rural Network (SRN). As part of the partial
not-sports (PNS) element of the SRN, each operator has a target to
provide 88% 4G landmass coverage across the UK. by June 2024.
During 2022, we made progress against this target, extending our
landmass coverage to 81.9%.

In 2022, we provided temporary coverage and capacity to 70
special events including large music festivals, sporting festivals and
events of national importance such as ensuring service for those
paying their respects to Her late Majesty Queen Elizabeth II.

At the end of 2022 we secured additional shareholder investment
to accelerate our network rollout to support a growing customer
base on our network.
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b) The future of connectivity

We have brought our customers new ways to connect through
Low Power Wide-Area Network (WAN) solutions. Having been the
first operator in the U.K. to rollout Long Term Evolution for Machines
(LTE-M) in 2019, we now have 74% of our 4G sites enabled with
the technology. In 2022, we added Narrowband Internet of Things
(NB-IloT) to our portfolio. We aim to have deployed both these
technologies completely across our Network by the end of 2024.
We continue to collaborate with DCMS and other industry bodies
and technical experts to carry out a number of 5G tests and trials.
For example, our partnerships with the Smart Mobility Living Lab
(SMLL) which investigates the future role of communication in
intelligent transport systems.

Our trials are focussed on identifying innovative ways of using
connectivity and use cases that will bring real societal and
customer benefits. For example, in 2022, we were part of 5G
Festival; the world’s first live, hybrid musical and we worked with
DCMS and others to test the power of 5G broadcast technology
(5@ Vista) to bring new and exciting ways to enable an audience
to engage with a live sporting event.

We are working with our customers to develop Private Networks,
including the first 5G-connected hospital in London, with South
London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust. This ground-breaking
5G Private Network provided clinicians with the opportunity to trial
5G-connected devices, loT technology, Augmented Reallity
headsets and Artificial Intelligence in support of their work.

c) New ways of operating

We are challenging historic business models by performing
Open Radio Active Networks (Open RAN) trials which allow us
to understand the benefits, opportunities and challenges around
developing a more agile and diverse vendor supply chain in
Radio Access Networks.

We led a Joint Operators Technical Specification (JOTs) forum
around Neutral Hostingl. We envisage neutral hosts being the
agents which can deliver infrastructure sharing on behalf of multiple
operators. Specifically, a Neutral Host In-Building solution would be
beneficial in places where provision of coverage and capacity has
traditionally been difficult, e.g. along railway lines.

Additionally, we signed a deal with BAIl Communications (BAl) to
provide 4G across the London Underground which will be installed
over the next two years.

d) Our converged network enabling more efficient

tomorrow’s services

We are evolving our fixed and mobile networks to create a smarter,
faster and more efficient converged network that will ultimately
change the way society functions. Our continuing investments now
are ensuring our networks are fit for the future: Reliable, Efficient,
Innovative, Sustainable and Scalable. We are challenging historic
business models to imagine a more efficient future; bringing
connectivity to customers in new and innovative ways.

1. Neutral Hosting - Where network infrastructure is owned and maintained by a third party that rents or leases its infrastructure to network operators
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Our Core network transformation is key to our Mobile and Fixed
networks coming together. It will move customers away from the
older equipment onto a new converged Core - consolidating our
networks to create efficiencies and reducing costs. We are not only
significantly evolving existing parts of our Core network, we are also
adding new applications and functions that did not exist before
which will ultimately become the foundation of future services.
While these important upgrades are being introduced, we are also
remaining focused on the basics so that we continue to deliver
great service and minimise any disruption for our customers.

As part of our convergence strategy for our fixed and mobile
technology, in 2022 we re-focused our Operations Support
Systems (OSS) transformation strategy on automation and
continual improvements in both customer experience and
efficiency for both our fixed and mobile networks. We started our
evolution to an XGS-PON network engaging in trials through the
year. The benefit of which will allow the network to be managed
through automation built in by design from installation.

Through the year we have continued to benefit from the synergies
of the merger, one of which is our ability to provide a faster and
improved mobile data experience to customers by boosting
backhaul pipes, by a multiple of 10 times, through use of our fixed
networks. We are also trialling the installation of small cells on posts
next to fixed network cabinets to improve mobile coverage.

e) Awards

In 2022 we continued to win awards for our Mobile Network
customer experience as we won twice at the uSwitch awards for
‘Best Network for Roaming’ and ‘Most Popular Network’ as well
as Best Network for business at the Mobile Industry Awards and
‘Best Network for Reliability in London’.

f) Network Sharing Arrangement with Vodafone

We have a long-standing network sharing with Vodafone
arrangement under which they share their collective mobile sites
to form a single, national grid across the whole of the UK. and 5G
active equipment, such as radio antennae, on joint network sites
in certain parts of the UK.

The active RAN share component involves sharing of our and
Vodafone’s 2G, 3G, 4G and bG networks (except in London and
certain other major cities). The shared network is managed by each
party separately based on a geographical split: we are responsible
for managing the active component of the shared network in the
Eastern half of the UK., Northern Ireland, most of Scotland and
North London, and Vodafone is responsible for managing the active
component of the shared network in the Western half of the UK.
(including Wales) and South London.
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g) Licences and frequencies

Spectrum licences are currently divided between the four MNOs
active in the UK. mobile telecommunications service market, with
approximately 32% of allocated relevant spectrum licensed to BT
and EE, approximately 24% licensed to Vodafone, approximately 22%
licensed to Three and approximately 22% licensed to Virgin Media O2.

Summary of Virgin Media O2’s spectrum holding:

Spectrum Amount

Frequency Band Megahertz (MHz) Held (MHz)
700 Frequency Division Duplex 20
800 Frequency Division Duplex 20
900 Frequency Division Duplex 348
1800 Frequency Division Duplex 1.6
2100 Frequency Division Duplex 20
2300 Time Division Duplex 40
2600 Time Division Duplex 20
3600 Time Division Duplex 80
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The following discussion and analysis, which should be read in
conjunction with our consolidated financial statements, is intended
to assist in providing an understanding of our results of operations
and financial condition and is organised as follows:

+ Results of Operations. This section provides an analysis of our
actual or pro forma results of operations, as applicable, for the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

- Liquidity and Capital Resources. This section provides an
analysis of our corporate and subsidiary liquidity and our
consolidated statements of cash flows.

+ Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.
This section provides discussion and analysis of the foreign
currency, interest rate and other market risks that our
Company faces.

Certain capitalised terms used below have been defined in the
notes to our consolidated financial statements. In the following text,
the terms ‘we,” ‘our, ‘our Company’ and ‘us’ refer to VMED O2 or,
collectively, to VMED O2 and its subsidiaries.

Unless otherwise indicated, convenience translations into pound
sterling are calculated as of 31 December 2022.
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Results of Operations

The discussion presented in this section provides an analysis

of our revenue and operating costs (excluding depreciation and
amortisation, and share-based compensation expense) for the
years ended 31 December 2022, and 2021 on a pro forma basis
which represents the impact if the JV Transaction had occurred on
1January 2020. As further described in note 1to our consolidated
financial statements, the VMED O2 Joint Venture was formed on
1June 2021. Our results are set forth below:

Revenue reconciliation

We derive our revenue from residential and B2B communications
services, including mobile, broadband internet, video and fixed-line
telephony services.

Variances in the subscription revenue that we receive from our
customers are a function of (i) changes in the number of customer
relationships or mobile subscribers outstanding during the period
and (ii) changes in ARPU. Changes in ARPU can be attributable

to (a) changes in prices, (b) changes in bundling or promotional
discounts, (c) changes in the tier of services selected, (d) variances
in subscriber usage patterns and (e) the overall mix of fixed and
mobile products during the period.

Year ended 31 December

2022 actual 2021 pro forma (unaudited) Increase / (decrease)
in millions in millions in millions
Transaction Transaction Transaction
Adjusted Adjusted Adjusted
Revenue®@ Adjustment Revenue Revenue® Adjustment Revenue Revenue®@ Adjustment Revenue
Mobile® £ 5,913.7 £- £5913.7 £ 58121 £- £58121 £1016 £ - £1016
Handset® 1,614.6 - 1,614.6 16290 - 16290 (14.4) (14.4)
Fixed 3,970.7 171 3,9536 41103 241 40862 (1396) (70) (1326)
Consumer fixed® 3,4030 43 3,3987 34555 74 34481 (52.5) (31) (494)
Subscription®© 3,334.0 43 3,3297 33773 74 33699 (433) (31) (402)
Other 69.0 = 69.0 782 - 782 92) - 92)
B2B fixed®© 567.7 12.8 554.9 654.8 16.7 6381 (871) (39) (83.2)
Other® 4975 4.8 492.7 4609 6.0 454.9 366 (12) 378
Total £10,381.9 £219 £10,3600 £103833 £301 £10,3532 £014) £(82) £68

Table shows the transaction adjusted revenue, less the transaction adjustment giving actual revenue. Current year figures are actual data. Prior year data are Pro forma
figures. For further explanation on the revenue streams, please see note 5 to our consolidated financial statements.

(a) Mobile revenue includes amounts received from residential and B2B customers for ongoing services and, amongst other items, revenue from sales of mobile
handsets and interconnect revenue. Mobile revenue increased £101.6 million or 1.7% during the year ended 31 December 2022, as compared to the corresponding
pro forma period in 2021. This increase is primarily due to price increases in April 2022, partially offset by a reduction in lower margin handset sales.

(b) Consumer fixed revenue includes subscription and other revenue for ongoing services and the recognition of deferred installation revenue over the associated
contract period. Consumer fixed revenue decreased £49.4 million or 1.4% during the year ended 31 December 2022, as compared to the corresponding pro forma
period in 2021, primarily due to the decrease in subscription revenue of £40.2 million. The impact on subscription revenues of higher customer volumes and the
March 2022 price rise was more than offset by the reduction in ARPU reflecting changes in the customer mix.

(c) Consumer fixed subscription revenue includes revenue from subscribers who purchase bundled services at a discounted rate and is generally allocated proportionally to
each service based on the standalone price for each individual service. As a result, changes in the standalone pricing of our fixed-line and mobile products or the
composition of bundles can contribute to changes in our product revenue categories from period to period. Additionally, we include revenue from certain SoHo subscribers
who pay a premium price to receive expanded service levels that are the same or similar to the mass-marketed products offered to our residential subscribers.

(d) Consumer fixed other revenue includes, amongst other items, channel carriage fees, late fees and revenue from the sale of equipment.

(e) B2B fixed revenue includes (i) revenue from business broadband internet, video and fixed-line telephony services offered to medium to large enterprises and, on a
wholesale basis, to other operators and (ii) revenue from long-term leases of portions of our network. B2B fixed revenue decreased £83.2 million or 13.0% during the
year ended 31 December 2022, as compared to the corresponding pro forma period in 2021. This decrease is primarily driven by (a) lower data revenue, including
decreases in installation revenue from high-capacity data services, (b) lower revenue associated with long-term leases of our network and (c) lower revenue from

voice services and equipment sales.
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(f) Other revenue includes revenue from SMIP, the provision of ICT services, associated connectivity to O2 business customers, and other services, including corporate
services provided to nexfibre. Other revenue increased £37.8 million or 8.3% during the year ended 31 December 2022, when compared to the corresponding pro
forma period in 2021. The increase was mainly driven by growth in mobile insurance revenues driven by the rate of claims.

(g) The APMs, including ‘Transaction Adjusted Revenue’, are applied consistently throughout the Annual Report. The APMs are defined in full and reconciled to the
reported statutory measure in Note 31 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statement.

Profit reconciliation

Most of our revenue is subject to VAT or similar revenue-based
taxes. Any increases in these taxes could have an adverse impact
on our ability to maintain or increase our revenue to the extent that
we are unable to pass such tax increases on to our customers. In
the case of revenue-based taxes for which we are the ultimate
taxpayer, we will also experience increases in our operating
expenses and corresponding declines in our Adjusted EBITDA and
Adjusted EBITDA margin (Adjusted EBITDA divided by revenue) to
the extent of any such tax increases. As we use the term, ‘Adjusted
EBITDA’ is defined as profit (loss) from continuing operations before
net income tax (expense) benefit, other non-operating income or
expenses, share of results of investments accounted for by the
equity method, net finance income (costs), depreciation and

amortisation, share-based compensation, impairment, restructuring
and other operating items and CTC operating expenses. Share-
based compensation for the purposes of calculating Adjusted
EBITDA also includes awards granted to VMED O2 employees that
are settled with Liberty Global or Telefonica shares. CTC generally
include incremental, third-party operating costs that are directly
associated with integration activities, restructuring activities and
certain other costs associated with aligning our business
processes to derive synergies.

We are subject to inflationary pressures with respect to certain
costs. Any cost increases that we are not able to pass on to our
subscribers through rate increases would result in increased
pressure on our operating margins.

Year ended 31 December

2022 2021 Increase (decrease)
actual pro forma

in millions in millions in millions %
Revenue £10,360.0 £10,3563.2 £68 01
Cost of sales 3,425.8 36086 (182.8) (51)
Personnel expenses 690.4 7591 (68.7) 91
Other expenses 2,386.8 23065 80.3 35
Costs to Capture included in the above (74.6) (59.2) 154 260
Adjusted EBITDA! 3,931.6 3,7382 1934 52
Transaction Adjustments (26.2) (65.2) (390) (59.8)
Transaction Adjusted EBITDA! 3,905.4 36730 2324 6.3
Transaction Adjusted EBITDA! 3,905.4 36730 2324 6.3
Transaction Adjustments 26.2 65.2 390 598
Adjusted EBITDA! 3,931.6 3,7382 1934 52
Costs to Capture 74.6 592 154 26.0
Depreciation and amortisation 3,553.9 36075 464 13
Share-based compensation expense 43.6 M3 23 56
Restructuring and other operating 62.6 46.8 15.8 338
Operating income 196.9 834 135 1361
Finance income 4,260.7 7874 34733 4411
Finance costs (4,022.3) (969.2) (30531) 3160
Share of results of equity method investments 0.7 02 0b 2500
Other (expense) income, net (3.6) 19 (55) (2895)
Income tax (expense) benefit (7.2) 2319 (2391) (1031)
Net profit £425.2 £13566 £ 2896 2136

1. The APMs, including ‘Adjusted’” and ‘Transaction Adjusted’, are applied consistently throughout the Annual Report. The APMs are defined in full and reconciled to the
reported statutory measure in note 31 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Cost of sales

Cost of sales includes programming and copyright costs,
interconnect and access costs, costs of mobile handsets and
other devices and other cost of sales related to our operations.
Programming and copyright costs represent a significant portion
of our operating costs and are subject to rise in future periods due
to various factors, including (i) higher costs associated with the
expansion of our digital video content, including rights associated
with ancillary product offerings and rights that provide for the
broadcast of live sporting events, and (ii) rate increases.

Our cost of sales decreased £182.8 million or 51% during the year
ended 31 December 2022, as compared to the corresponding pro
forma period in 2021, primarily due to:

A decrease in mobile, data, and voice interconnect and access
costs of £136.3 million or 20.9%, primarily due to lower

MVNO costs;

A decrease in programming costs of £37.6 million or 4.0%,
primarily due to changes in customer product mix; and

A decrease in mobile handset and other device costs of

£13.9 million or 0.8%, primarily due to lower sales volumes.

Personnel expenses
Personnel expenses include salary and payroll costs, commissions,
incentive compensation costs, deferred labour and contingent labour.

Our personnel expenses decreased £68.7 million or 91% during the
year ended 31 December 2022, as compared to the corresponding
pro forma period in 2021, primarily due to (i) a decrease related to
certain charges for legacy incentive compensation programs
included in the 2021, (i) a decrease in salary and payroll costs driven
by lower headcount and (i) lower costs due to higher capitalisable
activities, relating to employees working on network expansion.

Other expenses

Other expenses include marketing and other sales costs, network
operations, customer services costs, business service costs,
impairment and restructuring, share-based compensation and
other general expenses.

Our other expenses (exclusive of share-based compensation
expense and depreciation and amortisation) increased £80.3
million or 3.6% during the year ended 31 December 2022,
as compared to the corresponding pro forma period in 2021,
primarily due to the net effect of:

Anincrease in business service costs of £112.9 million or 22:1%,
primarily driven by increased energy costs and higher variable
service charges;

An increase in network and information technology-related costs

of £88.2 million or 22.5%, primarily driven by an increase in spend
on outsourced managed and support services, and increased
spend on licenses and software costs;

An increase in bad debt expense of £23.3 million or 76.6%,
primarily due to an increase in the bad debt provision write-offs
relating to airtime in the current year;

Consolidated 31
Financial
Statements

Anincrease in customer services costs of £18.9 million or
5.9%, primarily caused by an increase in outsourcing costs
most notably within sales and retentions;

A decrease in third-party selling costs of £94.0 million or 21.0%,
primarily due to changes in our mobile sales distribution mix,

as a result of the expiration of previous third-party selling
arrangements;

A decrease in marketing costs of £61.2 million or 13.5%, primarily
due to an increase in the level of vendor funding which is netted
against our external marketing costs; and

A decrease in provision expenses due to a one-off release of
£30 million following the resolution of a legal matter in the third
quarter of 2022.

Adjusted EBITDA!

Adjusted EBITDA is defined as profit (loss) before income taxes,
other income (expense), net, depreciation and amortisation,
share-based compensation, provisions and provision releases
related to significant litigation and impairment, restructuring and
other operating items.

Adjusted EBITDA increased 5.2% to £3,931.6 million (FY 2021:
£3,738.2 million) during the year ended 31 December 2022,

with key drivers of growth being the realisation of synergies, cost
efficiencies and a one-off release of £30 million in the third quarter,
following the resolution of a legal matter for which there was no
impact on cash. This was partially offset by increased energy costs.

Operating income

Operating income increased by £113.5 million or 1361% to £196.9
million (FY 2021: £83.4 million) during the year ended 31 December
2022. The increase in Adjusted EBITDA was partially offset by an
increase in depreciation and amortisation due to increased additions.

Finance income and costs

Finance income increased by £3,473.3 million or 4411% to £4,260.7
million (FY 2021: £787.4 million) during the year ended 31 December
2022. Finance costs increased by £3,053.1 million or 316.0% to
£4,022.3 million (FY 2021: £969.2 million) during the year ended

31 December 2022. The increase in finance income and cost to the
corresponding pro forma period in 2021, was primarily due to the
macro-economic environment, with significant movements in both
interest and foreign exchange rates seen during the current year.

Net profit

Net profit increased by £289.6 million or 213.6% to £425.2 million
(FY 2021: £135.6 million) during the year ended 31 December 2022.
This was driven by the stated increase in operating income as well
as an increase in the net of finance income and finance costs.

1. The APMs, including ‘Adjusted’” and ‘Transaction Adjusted’, are applied consistently throughout the Annual Report. The APMs are defined in full and reconciled to the
reported statutory measure in note 31 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

a) Sources and Uses of Cash

i) Cash and cash equivalents

At 31 December 2022, we had cash and cash equivalents of
£492.0 million, all of which was held by our subsidiaries. The terms
of the instruments governing the indebtedness of certain of these
subsidiaries may restrict our ability to access the liquidity of these
subsidiaries. In addition, our ability to access the liquidity of our
subsidiaries may be limited by tax, legal considerations and

other factors.

i) Liquidity of VMED O2

Our sources of liquidity at the parent level include, subject to the
restrictions noted above, proceeds in the form of (i) distributions

or loans from our subsidiaries and (ii) contributions or loans from
VMED O2 UK Limited. It is the intention of the Shareholders that
the Joint Venture, and by extension VMED O2, will be a self-funding
company capable of financing its activities on a stand-alone basis
without recourse to either Shareholder.

The ongoing cash needs of VMED O2 include corporate general
and administrative expenses and fees associated with the JV
Service Agreements. From time to time, VMED O2 may also require
cash in connection with (i) the repayment of outstanding debt and
related-party obligations (including the repurchase or exchange

of outstanding debt securities in the open market or privately-
negotiated transactions), (i) the funding of dividends or distributions
to our immediate parent, VMED O2 UK Limited, to in turn fund
dividends or distributions by VMED O2 UK Limited pursuant to the
Shareholders Agreement, (iii) the satisfaction of contingent liabilities
or (iv) acquisitions and other investment opportunities.

iii) Liquidity of our subsidiaries

In addition to cash and cash equivalents, the primary sources

of liquidity of our operating subsidiaries are cash provided by
operations and any borrowing availability under the VMED O2 Credit
Facilities. For details of the borrowing availability of the VMED O2
Credit Facilities, see note 15 to our consolidated financial statements.

The liquidity of our operating subsidiaries generally is used to
fund (i) property, plant and equipment additions, (ii) debt service
requirements and (iii) other liquidity requirements that may arise
from time to time, as well as to settle certain obligations that are
not included in our 31 December 2022 consolidated statement of
financial position. In this regard, we have significant commitments
related to (a) purchases of customer premises and other equipment
and services, (b) network and connectivity commitments and ()
programming contract and other items. These obligations are
expected to represent a significant liquidity requirement of our
Company, the majority of which is due over the next 12 to 24
months. For additional information regarding our commitments,
see note 28 to our consolidated financial statements.
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For additional information regarding our consolidated cash flows,
see the discussion under Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
below. Our subsidiaries may also require funding in connection with
(i) the repayment of outstanding debt, (ii) acquisitions and other
investment opportunities or (iii) distributions or loans to VMED O2
UK Limited. No assurance can be given that any external funding
would be available to our subsidiaries on favourable terms, or at all.

b) Capitalisation

At 31 December 2022, the outstanding principal amount of

our consolidated debt, together with of our lease obligations,
aggregated £20.5 billion, including £3.0 billion that is classified
as current in our consolidated statement of financial position,
£3.0 billion due before 2028 and £14.5 billion that is not due until
2028 or thereafter. For additional information regarding our debt
and lease maturities, see notes 15 and 16, respectively, to our
consolidated financial statements.

As further discussed under Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures
about Market Risk below and in notes 18 and 19 to our consolidated
financial statements, we use derivative instruments to mitigate foreign
currency and interest rate risk associated with our debt instruments.

Our ability to service or refinance our debt and to maintain
compliance with the leverage covenants in our credit agreements
and indentures is dependent primarily on our ability to maintain or
increase our Adjusted EBITDA' and to achieve adequate returns on
our property, plant and equipment additions and acquisitions. In
addition, our ability to obtain additional debt financing is limited by
incurrence-based leverage covenants contained in our various
debt instruments. In this regard, if our Adjusted EBITDAT were to
decline, our ability to obtain additional debt could be limited. We do
not anticipate any non-compliance with respect to any of our debt
covenants that would have a material adverse impact on our
liquidity during the next 12 months.

Notwithstanding our negative working capital position at

31 December 2022, we believe that we have sufficient resources
to repay or refinance the current portion of our debt and lease
obligations and to fund our foreseeable liquidity requirements
during the next 12 months. However, as our maturing debt grows
in later years, we anticipate we will seek to refinance or otherwise
extend our debt maturities. No assurance can be given that we will
be able to complete these refinancing transactions or otherwise
extend our debt maturities.

All of our consolidated debt and lease obligations at 31 December
2022 have been borrowed or incurred by our subsidiaries or our
joint operation, Cornerstone Telecommunications Infrastructure
Limited (CTIL). For additional information concerning our debt
and lease obligations, see notes 15 and 16, respectively, to our
consolidated financial statements.

1. The APMs, including ‘Adjusted’” and ‘Transaction Adjusted’, are applied consistently throughout the Annual Report. The APMs are defined in full and reconciled to the
reported statutory measure in note 31 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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Summary

Our consolidated statement of cash flows for year ended 31 December 2022 is set forth below (in millions):
Year ended
31 December
2022
£m in millions
Net cash provided by operating activities £2,9534
Net cash used by investing activities (1,455.1)
Net cash provided by financing activities (1,358.2)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 34
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash’ £143.5

Operating Activities

The net cash provided by our operating activities for the year
ended 31 December 2022 is primarily attributable to our Adjusted
EBITDAZ? and related working capital items. See the Consolidated
Statement of Cash Flows on page 99 for further information.

Investing Activities.

The net cash used by our investing activities for the year ended 31
December 2022 is primarily attributable to capital expenditures and
net advances to related parties. See the Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows on page 99 for further information.

Financing Activities

The net cash used by our financing activities during the year ended
31 December 2022 is primarily attributable to the net effect of (i)
cash used of £125.6 million related to net repayments of third-party
debt and lease obligations, (i) cash received of £381.2 million related
to derivative instruments and (iii) dividends paid of £1,600.0 million.
See the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows on page 99 for
further information.

The capital expenditures we report in our consolidated statements
of cash flows do not include amounts that are financed under
capital-related vendor financing or lease arrangements. Instead,
these amounts are reflected as non-cash additions to our property,
plant and equipment when the underlying assets are delivered
and as repayments of debt when the principal is repaid. In this
discussion, we refer to (i) our capital expenditures as reported

in our consolidated statements of cash flows, which exclude
amounts financed under capital-related vendor financing or lease
arrangements, and (i) our total property, plant and equipment and
intangible asset additions, which include our capital expenditures
on an accrual basis and amounts financed under capital-related
vendor financing or lease arrangements. For further details
regarding our property, plant and equipment and intangible asset
additions, see note 11 to our consolidated financial statements.

A reconciliation of our consolidated property, plant and equipment
and intangible asset additions to our consolidated capital
expenditures, as reported in our consolidated statement of

cash flows for year ended 31 December 2022 is set forth below

(in millions):

Year ended

31 December

2022

£m in millions
Property, plant and equipment and intangible asset additions £2,408.0
Assets acquired under capital-related vendor financing arrangements (759.9)
Assets acquired under leases (100.6)
Changes in current liabilities related to capital expenditures, net (25.3)
Capital expenditures, net’ £1,522.2

Our property, plant and equipment and intangible asset additions
during the year ended 31 December 2022 includes (i) investments
in network capacity, technology facilities and information
technology-related projects, (ii) expenditures for new build and
upgrade projects and (i) baseline expenditures, including network
improvements and expenditures for property and facilities and
information technology.

1. Pro forma data is not produced for this data, therefore no prior year comparator has been used in this table.
2. The APMs, including ‘Adjusted’ and ‘Transaction Adjusted’, are applied consistently throughout the Annual Report. The APMs are defined in full and reconciled to the
reported statutory measure in note 31 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures

about Market Risk

We are exposed to market risk in the normal course of our business
operations due to our ongoing investing and financing activities.
Market risk refers to the risk of loss arising from adverse changes in
foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. The risk of loss
can be assessed from the perspective of adverse changes in fair
values, cash flows and future profits. As further described below,
we have established policies, procedures and processes governing
our management of market risks and the use of derivative
instruments to manage our exposure to such risks.

Cash

We invest our cash in highly liquid instruments that meet high credit
quality standards. At 31 December 2022, £478.7 million or 97.3%,
£8.4 million or 1.7% and £4.9 million or 1.0% of our consolidated
cash balances were denominated in pounds sterling, U.S. dollars
and euros, respectively.

Foreign Currency Risk

We are exposed to foreign currency exchange rate risk with respect
to our consolidated debt in situations where our debt is
denominated in U.S. dollars and euros. Although we generally
match the denomination of our and our subsidiaries’ borrowings
with our functional currency, market conditions or other factors may
cause us to enter into borrowing arrangements that are not
denominated in our functional currency (unmatched debt). In these
cases, our policy is to provide for an economic hedge against
foreign currency exchange rate movements by using derivative
instruments to synthetically convert unmatched debt into the
applicable underlying currency. At 31 December 2022 substantially
all of our debt was either directly or synthetically matched to our
functional currency. For additional information concerning the terms
of our derivative instruments, see note 19 to our consolidated
financial statements.
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Currently, the UK. is facing various macro-economic pressures,
including financial and political challenges, that have impacted the
broader U.K. economy, valuation of the local currency, interest rates
and inflationary pressures. In addition to the exposure that results
from the mismatch of our borrowings and our functional currency,
we are exposed to foreign currency risk to the extent that we enter
into transactions denominated in currencies other than our
functional currency (non-functional currency risk), such as
equipment purchases, programming contracts, notes payable and
notes receivable (including intercompany amounts) and certain
services provided by our Shareholders. Changes in exchange rates
with respect to amounts recorded in our consolidated statements
of financial position related to these items will result in unrealised
(based upon period-end exchange rates) or realised foreign
currency transaction gains and losses upon settlement of the
transactions. Moreover, to the extent that our revenue, costs and
expenses are denominated in currencies other than our functional
currency, we will experience fluctuations in our revenue, costs and
expenses solely as a result of changes in foreign currency
exchange rates. Generally, we will consider hedging non-functional
currency risks when the risks arise from agreements with third
parties that involve the future payment or receipt of cash or other
monetary items to the extent that we can reasonably predict the
timing and amount of such payments or receipts and the payments
or receipts are not otherwise hedged. In this regard, we have
entered into foreign currency forward and option contracts to
hedge certain of these risks. For additional information concerning
our foreign currency forward and option contracts, see note 18 to
our consolidated financial statements.

The relationships between (i) the euro and (i) the U.S. dollar and the
pound sterling, which is our reporting currency, are shown below,
per one pound sterling:

31December 31December

Spot rates 2022 2021
Euro 11296 11887
U.S. dollar 1.2099 135635
Period from

Year ended 1June 2021 to

31December 31December

Average rates 2022 2021
Euro 11733 11727
U.S. dollar 1.2190 13689

Inflation Risk

We are subject to inflationary pressures with respect to labour,
programming and other costs. While we attempt to increase our
revenue through price increases to customers to offset increases in
costs, there is no assurance that we will be able to do so. Therefore,
costs could rise faster than associated revenue, thereby resulting in
a negative impact on our operating results, cash flows and liquidity.

The economic environment in the U.K. is a function of government,
economic, fiscal and monetary policies and various other factors
beyond our control that could lead to inflation. We are unable to
predict the extent that price levels might be impacted in future
periods by the current state of the economy in the UK.
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Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to changes in interest rates primarily as a result of
our borrowing activities, which include fixed-rate and variable-rate
borrowings by our subsidiaries. Our primary exposure to variable-
rate debt is through our SONIA-indexed, LIBOR-indexed and
EURIBOR-indexed VMED O2 Credit Facilities.

In general, we enter into derivative instruments to protect

against increases in the interest rates on our variable-rate debt.
Accordingly, we have entered into various derivative transactions
to manage exposure to increases in interest rates. We use interest
rate derivative contracts to exchange, at specified intervals, the
difference between fixed and variable interest rates calculated by
reference to an agreed-upon notional principal amount. We also
use interest rate cap agreements and swaptions to lock in a
maximum interest rate if variable rates rise, but also allow our
Company to benefit from declines in market rates. Under our
current guidelines, we use various interest rate derivative
instruments to mitigate interest rate risk, generally for the full

term of the underlying variable-rate debt. In this regard, we use
judgement to determine the appropriate composition and maturity
dates of our portfolios of interest rate derivative instruments,
taking into account the relative costs and benefits of different
maturity profiles in light of current and expected future market
conditions, liquidity issues and other factors. For additional
information concerning the impacts of these interest rate derivative
instruments, see note 19 to our consolidated financial statements.

For additional information concerning the phasing out of LIBOR,
see The phasing out of LIBOR will result in a new reference rate
being applied to our LIBOR indexed, which may not be the same
as the new reference rate applied to our LIBOR-indexed derivative
instruments, and will have to be adjusted for, within the Principal
Risks and Uncertainties section below.

Weighted Average Variable Interest Rate.

At 31 December 2022, the outstanding principal amount of our
variable-rate indebtedness aggregated £7.3 billion and the
weighted average interest rate (including margin) on such variable-
rate indebtedness was approximately 6.3%, excluding the effects of
interest rate derivative contracts, deferred financing costs, original
issue premiums or discounts and commitment fees, all of which
affect our overall cost of borrowing. Assuming no change in the
amount outstanding, and without giving effect to any interest rate
derivative contracts, deferred financing costs, original issue
premiums or discounts and commitment fees, a hypothetical 50
basis point (0.60%) increase (decrease) in our weighted average
variable interest rate would increase (decrease) our annual
consolidated interest expense and cash outflows by £36.5 million.
As discussed above and in note 19 to our consolidated financial
statements, we use interest rate derivative contracts to manage our
exposure to increases in variable interest rates. In this regard,
increases in the fair value of these contracts generally would be
expected to offset most of the economic impact of increases in the
variable interest rates applicable to our indebtedness to the extent
and during the period that principal amounts are matched with
interest rate derivative contracts.
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Counterparty Credit Risk

We are exposed to the risk that the counterparties to our derivative
instruments, cash holdings and undrawn debt facilities will default
on their obligations to us. We manage these credit risks through
the evaluation and monitoring of the creditworthiness of, and
concentration of risk with, the respective counterparties. In this
regard, credit risk associated with our derivative instruments

and undrawn debt facilities is spread across a relatively broad
counterparty base of banks and financial institutions. Collateral is
generally not posted by either party under the derivative
instruments. Most of our cash currently is invested in either (i) AAA
credit rated money market funds, including funds that invest in
government obligations, or (i) overnight deposits with banks having
a minimum credit rating of A by Standard & Poor’s or an equivalent
rating by Moody’s Investor Service. To date, neither the access to
nor the value of our cash and cash equivalent balances have been
adversely impacted by liquidity problems of financial institutions.

At 31 December 2022, our exposure to counterparty credit risk
included (i) derivative assets with an aggregate fair value of
£1,456.6 million, (i) aggregate undrawn debt facilities of £2,118.0
million and (iii) cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash of
£633.4 million.

We have entered into derivative instruments under master
agreements with each counterparty that contain master netting
arrangements that are applicable in the event of early termination
by either party to such derivative instrument. The master netting
arrangements are limited to the derivative instruments governed
by the relevant master agreement and are independent of similar
arrangements.

Under our derivative contracts, it is generally only the non-
defaulting party that has a contractual option to exercise early
termination rights upon the default of the other counterparty and

to set off other liabilities against sums due upon such termination.
However, in the event of an insolvency of a derivative counterparty,
under the laws of certain jurisdictions, the defaulting counterparty
or its insolvency representatives may be able to compel the
termination of one or more derivative contracts and trigger early
termination payment liabilities payable by us, reflecting any mark-
to-market value of the contracts for the counterparty. Alternatively,
or in addition, the insolvency laws of certain jurisdictions may
require the mandatory set off of amounts due under such derivative
contracts against present and future liabilities owed to us under
other contracts between us and the relevant counterparty.
Accordingly, it is possible that we may be subject to obligations to
make payments, or may have present or future liabilities owed to us
partially or fully discharged by set off as a result of such obligations,
in the event of the insolvency of a derivative counterparty, even
though it is the counterparty that is in default and not us. To the
extent that we are required to make such payments, our ability to
do so will depend on our liquidity and capital resources at the time.
In an insolvency of a defaulting counterparty, we will be an
unsecured creditor in respect of any amount owed to us by the
defaulting counterparty, except to the extent of the value of any
collateral we have obtained from that counterparty.
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In addition, where a counterparty is in financial difficulty, under the
laws of certain jurisdictions, the relevant regulators may be able to
(i) compel the termination of one or more derivative instruments,
determine the settlement amount and compel, without any
payment, the partial or full discharge of liabilities arising from such
early termination that are payable by the relevant counterparty or
(i) transfer the derivative instruments to an alternative counterparty.

While we currently have no specific concerns about the
creditworthiness of any counterparty for which we have material
credit risk exposures, we cannot rule out the possibility that one

or more of our counterparties could fail or otherwise be unable to
meet its obligations to us. Any such instance could have an adverse
effect on our cash flows, results of operations, financial condition
and or liquidity.

Although we actively monitor the creditworthiness of our key
vendors, the financial failure of a key vendor could disrupt our
operations and have an adverse impact on our revenue and
cash flows.

Sensitivity Information

Information concerning the sensitivity of the fair value of certain of
our more significant derivative instruments to changes in market
conditions is set forth below. The potential changes in fair value

set forth below do not include any amounts associated with the
remeasurement of the derivative asset or liability into the applicable
functional currency. For additional information, see notes 19 and 20
to our consolidated financial statements.
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Cross-currency and Interest Rate Derivative Contracts
Holding all other factors constant at 31 December 2022:

(i) aninstantaneous increase/(decrease) of 10% in the value of the
pound sterling relative to the U.S. dollar would have decreased/
(increased) the aggregate fair value of our cross-currency and
interest rate derivative contracts by approximately £919.0 million;

(i) an instantaneous increase/(decrease) of 10% in the value of
the pound sterling relative to the euro would have decreased/
(increased) the aggregate fair value of our cross-currency and
interest rate derivative contracts by approximately £298.0 million;
and

(ian instantaneous increase/(decrease) in the relevant base rate of
50 basis points (0.60%) would have (decreased)/increased the
aggregate fair value of our cross-currency and interest rate
derivative contracts by approximately £163.0 million.

Projected Cash Flows Associated with Derivative Instruments
The following table provides information regarding the projected
cash flows associated with our derivative instruments. The pound
sterling equivalents presented below are based on interest rate
projections and exchange rates as of 31 December 2022. These
amounts are presented for illustrative purposes only and will likely
differ from the actual cash payments or receipts required in future
periods. For additional information regarding our derivative
instruments, see notes 18 and 19 to our consolidated financial
statements.

Year ended 31 December

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 Thereafter Total
£m in millions in millions in millions in millions in millions in millions in millions
Projected derivative cash payments
(receipts), net:

Interest-related® £9020 £ 2276 £1257 £1730 £1872 £ 821 £ 8876
Principal-related® 02 - 302 - 714 3417 4435
Other© 19 - - - - - 19
Total £ 941 £ 2276 £1559 £1730 £ 2686 £ 4238 £13330

(@) Includes (i) the cash flows of our interest rate cap, floor, swaption and swap contracts and (ii) the interest-related cash flows of our cross-currency and interest rate

swap contracts.

(b) Includes the principal-related cash flows of our cross-currency swap contracts.

(c) Includes amounts related to our foreign currency forward contracts.
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Sustainabillity

Following the creation of Virgin Media O2 in June 2021,
we reached a significant milestone in May 2022 as we
launched our first combined sustainability strategy,

the Better Connections Plan.

Informed by a materiality assessment, it focuses our activity

on the environmental, social and governance (ESG) issues that
matter most to our business, ensuring we are both meeting

our responsibilities and acting in the areas where we believe

we can make the greatest difference. Taking into account the
material issues of our shareholders and our previous businesses
- Virgin Media and O2 - we also conducted a review of relevant
Telecoms sector issues and mapped our issues against the UN
Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).

Governance structure

In 2022, we refreshed the membership of the governance body
that oversees our sustainability activity — including the development
and delivery of our strategy, setting and monitoring of targets,

and sustainability reporting and communications. The Sustainability
and Responsible Business (SRB) Committee is chaired by the Chief
Communications and Corporate Affairs Officer and examines ESG
risks, which are managed through our company’s over-arching risk
management framework.

The SRB Committee is supported by three Steering Committees,
reflecting the Better Connections Plan’s key strategic priorities:
Environment; Social Impact; and Diversity, Equity and Inclusion.
Each Steering Committee is sponsored by a member of the
Executive Management Team:

Environment
Steering Committee

Jeanie York -
Chief Technology Officer

Social Impact
Steering Committee

Rob Evans - Managing Director,
Fixed Network Expansion

Diversity, Equity and Inclusion
Steering Committee

Jo Bertram — Managing Director,
Business and Wholesale

Integrating ESG with Risk Management

The importance of environmental, social and governance

issues means that they are a function of our principal risks and
uncertainties. The current environmental risk is taken into account
in ‘ESG’” with health and safety included within our ‘people’ principal
risk and our supply chain risk included within ‘supply chain’.

Our interaction with society in general is not assessed to be

a principal risk.

An additional part of our disclosure is our Taskforce on Climate-
Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) statement on page 47,
which provides further information on how we identify and
manage our main physical and transition climate risks.

Our policies and procedures

All of our activities are united by principles of responsible business.
Since bringing together our operations, we have harmonised

our policies across the business to ensure that our employees,
partners and suppliers uphold the highest levels of integrity and
ethical conduct.

Code of Conduct

As a responsible business we are committed to conducting our
operations with integrity and fairness. Our Code of Conduct sets
out our commitment to doing the right thing and maintaining the
highest ethical and legal standards.

Our Anti-Bribery and Corruption (ABC) Policy establishes

our approach in complying with the requirements of the U.K.
Bribery Act, and the US Foreign Corrupt Practices Act. The Policy
also provides guidance on what constitutes a bribe and prohibits
the giving or receiving of any excessive or improper gifts and
hospitality. Our Executive Management Team has a zero-tolerance

approach to bribery or corruption.

In 2023, we plan to streamline our approach by empowering these
Steering Committees to oversee our sustainability activities and to
disband the SRB Committee. The outputs from the committees will
be communicated to the Virgin Media O2 Audit Committee and
Virgin Media O2 Executive Management Team.
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Anti-Bribery and Corruption framework
At Virgin Media O2 we operate a risk-based ABC Framework which is aligned to the Ministry of Justice’s Six Principles for the prevention of
bribery by commercial organisations. The key areas are:

Ministry of Justice Principle Key update

Top Level Commitment Our Executive Management have a ‘zero tolerance’ to bribery and corruption. In support of this
commitment
a. Our Executive Management and Senior Leadership Team members complete an Annual Directors
Governance Statement to confirm their understanding and compliance with the requirements of
the Code of Conduct and ABC Policy

Our Audit Committee assists the Executive Management Team in fulfilling their duties in regards to
ABC risk management and policy compliance.

Risk Assessment We assess the nature and extent of our exposure to potential internal and external risks of bribery.
A key priority during 2022 has been the completion of an extensive independent ABC risk assessment
in support of our regulatory obligations and our commitment to integrity and fairness.

The Executive Management Team were actively engaged and provided assurance of the key internal
and external bribery risks in relation to the customers, markets and activities of our newly integrated
business.

Proportionate Procedures We deploy a range of bribery prevention procedures in mitigation of the risks identified within the risk

assessment. These include

a. The launch of a new third party operated digital ‘Speak-up’ platform allowing individuals to raise
concerns or breaches of the Code of Conduct in a confidential manner via an online portal or by
telephone

b. A Gifts and Hospitality pre-approval, guidance and reporting tool including restrictions in relation
to public sector officials or activity during commercial negotiations

c. Charitable Donations and Conflicts of Interest declaration and approval processes

Due Diligence We undertake risk-based procedures to identify and mitigate the risks of organisations who perform
services on our behalf. Our third-party controls include Anti-Bribery and Corruption terms and
conditions within our commercial agreements and due diligence screening for new and existing

suppliers.
Communications and We seek to ensure that our Code of Conduct and Anti-Bribery Policy and procedures are embedded
Training and understood throughout the whole team. Our communications and training approach include

a. Our Compliance Training completion (which includes a mandatory Code of Conduct module) for
all employees was 98.3% as at 31st December

b. Internal Code of Conduct employee communications program including videos, intranet posts,
group wide colleague emails and Anti-Bribery and Corruption briefings and webinars for higher
risk teams

Compliance Monitoring We regularly monitor and review our ABC procedures to ensure they remain effective in mitigating
the identified and any emerging bribery or corruption risks.

During 2022 we have implemented an enhanced Compliance function structure which included
establishing a new specialist Ethics and Training Team responsible for the day-to-day management
of our ABC monitoring program. Our Compliance program provides assurance over the key
requirements of our ABC control framework including supplier due diligence, conflicts of
management and charitable donations review and approval and gifts and hospitality screening.
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Health and Safety

Keeping everyone safe and well is a vitally important part of the
way we work. We are committed to provide and maintain, so far as
is reasonably practicable, a safe and healthy working environment,
compliant with legislation, and safe systems of work to ensure the
health, safety and well-being of all our employees, contract
partners, visitors, customers and members of the public. It includes
those who work on or visit our premises or who may be affected by
our products, activities or services.

As part of our team, continual improvement of health and safety
performance and promotion of health and safety measures is seen
as a mutual objective for management and employees, with every
person within Virgin Media O2 empowered to work safely and stop
unsafe acts or conditions where they see them.

Our three safety behaviours; (i) Take Care, (i) Think it, say it and (i)
Do the right thing enable every person in our organisation to work
towards our vision to ensure Everyone Home Safe and Well.
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Better Connections Plan underpinning

our Group Strategy

Our 2025 strategy is centred around three elements — Zero carbon
future, A circular economy, Connected communities — underpinned
by a better way to do business. It centres our ambitions on cutting
carbon faster; tackling the growing problem of e-waste; reducing
data poverty and digital exclusion; and making sure we grow the
business in an ethical, inclusive way.

To ensure we better understand the needs of the next generation
when it comes to social and environmental issues, we established
a Youth Advisory Council in 2022 (the Council), composed of
Generation Z (16-24 year olds) activists.

We also support the United Nation’s Sustainable Development
Goals (SDGs) and want to play our part in tackling the global
challenges of climate change, waste and inequality. Our strategy
contributes to a number of goals that tackle issues including
climate action, responsible consumption and production,
reducing inequalities, and gender equality.

The following table describes the main elements of our 2025
strategy, why they matter to our key stakeholders, how we are
going to deliver them and the representative UN SDGs that they

align with.

What Zero carbon future A circular economy Connected communities

Why We are in the midst of a We will embed principles of We have a responsibility to help
climate and ecological circularity into everything we do tackle the inequalities brought
emergency. We believe that and champion the reduction of about by the deepening digital
technology can play a crucial e-waste - the fastest-growing divide, and are determined to
role in facilitating the shift to a waste stream in the world. ensure that our services are
zero carbon future. accessible to all.

How We are committed to achieving We are committed to achieving We are committing to help

net zero carbon emissions
across our entire value chain
by the end of 2040.

We are empowering customers
to prevent 20 million tonnes of
CO, from entering the Earth’s
atmosphere and we will
support large-scale
decarbonisation by the

end of 2025.

zero waste operations and
products by the end of 2025.

We will help consumers to
carry out 10 million circular
actions to tackle e-waste by
the end of 2025.

eradicate data poverty by
connecting 1 million digitally
excluded people across the
UK. by the end of 2025.

We are working to equip

2 million people with skills
and tools to help them feel
more connected to our digital
society by the end of 2025.

Related SDGs
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What Underpinned by a Better business

Why We want to make sure that our business operates in a fair, ethical way and that we become a leading,
inclusive employer and a great place to work.

How We are working to achieve gender parity and improve representation from underrepresented ethnic

backgrounds to 15% across our wider leadership team, and to 25% across our entire business by 2027.

We are supporting 1 million people through our ‘Take 5’ day employee volunteering programme by 2025.

We are making sure all our major purchases commit contractually to defined sustainability
requirements and aligned carbon-reduction goals.

Related SDGs

1 PARTHERSHIFS

FOR THE GOALS

Development against our strategy in 2022

A zero carbon future

During the year, we consolidated Virgin Media and O2’s carbon
footprints and published our new net zero target — aligned with
the Science-Based Target initiative’s (SBTi) Net-Zero Standard.
We were also one of ten companies to become a Pathfinder for
The Carbon Trust’s new ‘Route to Net Zero’ standard and have
achieved the ‘Advancing’ certification level.

Our net zero pathway places a clear emphasis on implementing
energy efficiency solutions and continuing to invest in renewable
energy — we source 100% of renewable energy at sites where
we control the bill.

As a result of our carbon footprint consolidation process and
ongoing efforts to ensure accuracy with our emissions reporting,
in 2022 we changed the way we estimate non-renewable
electricity consumption for masts operating on third party

sites and convert the consumption to emissions.

This change ensures we fully align with the Greenhouse Gas
Protocol Corporate Reporting guidelines and affects our historical
emissions reporting, with the revised methodology showing an
18% reduction in emissions in 2021 since 2020, instead of the
previously-reported 29%.

Despite the measurement changes, we were able to deliver an 18%
reduction in 2021 and 29% reduction in 2022 against our baseline
year 2020, ensuring we remain on our science-based target
pathway. Key highlights include:

1. Introducing the first 76 electric vehicles (EVs) to our van fleet

on our roadmap to transition 100% of the fleet to EVs by 2030.
Global supply chain issues remain a challenge for our electric
vehicle rollout, delaying the full delivery of vehicles ordered.

2. Whilst we saw fugitive emissions (i.e. leaks and other irregular
releases) increase by 19% year on year, predominantly due to
fire suppression systems discharges where inert gas is not used,
they remain 30% below the 2020 baseline. In response, we are
increasing our investment in replacing the gases with inert
alternatives to drive emissions down in line with our net zero
ambitions.

3. Continuing to decarbonise masts operating on third party sites
where we do not control the bill. To drive faster decarbonisation
for this part of the network, we have for the first time begun to
purchase unbundled Renewable Energy Guarantees of Origin
certificates (REGOs) to cover a proportion of non-renewable
electricity consumed. The certificates provide evidence that
electricity has been generated from renewable sources. For
2022 we have purchased 53,000 MWh of unbundled REGOs,
covering 35% of non-renewable consumption.

Alongside our efforts to reduce our own carbon footprint, we
believe our technology and services can provide solutions that will
help other industries decarbonise faster, delivering environmental
benefits at scale and helping the U.K. to transition to net zero faster.
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We also use our communication platforms and purchasing power
to raise awareness of the climate crisis and encourage others to
reduce their carbon footprint:

a. In 2022, we ran a campaign - Just One Thing — encouraging
customers to take action on environmental issues, however big
or small.

b. We have continued to engage Generation Z, organising an
industry workshop with peers from Conscious Advertising
Network, Responsible Media Forum, ITV, BBC, Live Nation and
WWEF to discuss climate issues.

c. In partnership with the British Chambers of Commerce,
we are helping small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs)
to reduce their own emissions through a Net Zero Hub.

d. In accordance with our Supply Chain Sustainability policies,
our major suppliers are required to have carbon-reduction
plans and science-based targets in place.

In 2022, we kept our employees informed about the environmental
and social issues our world is facing, and how our Better Connections
Plan is helping to work towards solutions. We ran climate immersion
sessions with our Executive Management Team, SRB committee
and wider Corporate Affairs team, and we marked the UN Global
Climate Conference COP27 with a series of virtual events for all

of our employees.

A circular economy

Initiatives like Eco Rating (an environmental ratings system for
devices), Like New (refurbished phones), O2 Recycle and Virgin
Media’s ‘take-back scheme’ all help customers reduce their carbon
impact and give devices a longer life — supporting our ambition
to champion the reduction of e-waste and promote a circular
economy. Over ten million routers and set-top boxes have been
refurbished and reused since 2014, and 3.5 million devices have
been returned through O2 Recycle since 2009. During 2022,

our customers took 2.4 million circular actions in total, including
the aforementioned O2 Recycle. We have also made progress
towards our zero waste targets in 2022, by recycling 4,252 metric
tonnes of waste from a total of 5,063 metric tonnes produced.

In October, in partnership with environmental charity Hubbub,
we launched Time after Time - a new e-waste eco fund that will
award grants of between £10,000 and £75,000 for creative UK.
projects that reduce e-waste, encourage recycling of electronic
goods, or support devices being used over and over again.

We have taken action to minimise the plastics and packaging
required to make and sell our products and services. Our own-
brand mobile accessories contain no single use plastic packaging,
and our O2 SIM cards are made from recycled plastic.

We are also embracing sustainable design principles, ensuring
that every new customer product takes environmental impact into
account at the product development stage, like our new product
scorecard that requires all new Virgin Media routers to be more
efficient than the previous version.
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We take our environmental impacts seriously. To ensure we have best
practice governance, management systems, controls, targets and
resources in place, we manage our primary environmental impacts
through our ISO14001 certified Environmental Management System.

Connecting communities

To make progress on our Better Connections Plan’s targets by
making a difference in the communities where we operate, our
work in 2022 focused on reducing data poverty, improving digital
literacy, and supporting unpaid carers through our partnership
with Carers UK.

a) Connecting the disconnected

The National Databank — an initiative we set up with digital inclusion
charity Good Things Foundation — is the cornerstone of our drive to
bring data poverty and digital exclusion to an end. In 2022, we:

i. increased our National Databank donation to 61 million GB
of free data up until the end of 2025;

ii. successfully invited the involvement of Vodafone and Three
in the National Databank scheme;

ii. launched a Christmas campaign to raise awareness of data
poverty, which gave away 1 million GB of extra data through
02 Christmas SIM Cards.

During the year, we achieved the milestone of re-homing over
10,000 smartphones and £1 million of free O2 mobile data through
our Community Calling scheme, run in partnership with Hubbub.
The project distributes smartphones donated by members of the
public, businesses and Virgin Media O2 to those in need, giving a
second life to old devices and preventing them from ending up in
landfill as e-waste. We have now re-homed over 13,000 devices
through Community Calling following its launch in May 2020.

We also announced plans to donate 2,500 smartphones to support
asylum seekers and survivors of domestic abuse through charities
Migrant Help and Women’s Aid and increased our Migrant Help
commitment by a further 5,000 devices to support migrants
impacted by the war in Ukraine and other humanitarian crises.

Additionally, we launched the Tech Lending Community fund —

a £400,000 fund that has been shared by five charities who

have received more than 1,000 tablets and data to distribute to
beneficiaries living in temporary accommodation including women
seeking refuge from domestic violence, refugees, asylum seekers
and people at risk of homelessness.

We have continued to expand the Shared Rural Network in 2022,
which is intended to improve rural mobile coverage, and we plan to
connect 10 community hubs a year with free broadband to keep
communities connected across the UK.

Overall, we connected over 18,500 people in 2022 with free

and more affordable connectivity and free devices through our
programmes including the National Databank, Community Calling,
Essential Broadband, and Tech Lending Community.
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b) Building digital skills and confidence

In 2022, research with the Centre for Economics and Business
Research (CEBR) highlighted the societal and economic costs

of a digital skills gap, at risk due to pandemic-accelerated digital
transformation. With strong and established relationships in the
Public Sector, across both Central and Local Government, we have
an opportunity to drive meaningful change. After a successful

pilot with Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA),

we announced in October that we will be rolling out nationwide
trials of our Connect More programme to help address digital
exclusion. Working in partnership with local authorities to identify
citizens facing digital exclusion, and delivered by our employees,
the programme offers training to help build the digital skills,
confidence, and motivation to get online. Through Connect More,
employees in the B2B division totalling more than 2,000 employees
can use their five paid volunteering days to volunteer their time.

To help one million disadvantaged people across the UK. (including
those on low incomes, global majority communities, low-skilled
workers, and older people) get online and gain vital digital skills,

we have pledged £2 million to Good Things Foundation as part

of a new three-year partnership.

One of the initiatives the funds will support is Learn My Way, a free
online learning course for people that need support with digital
skills and literacy. Created by Good Things Foundation and used by
community groups and charities around the UK., we are helping to
update it and make it available to more people — with a new version
planned to launch in 2023.

During ‘Get Online Week’ in October 2022, a number of our
employees volunteered to deliver hundreds of free digital skills
training sessions to local authorities and the public sector through
the Connect More programme in a bid to tackle digital exclusion.

Our services also seek to protect children, young people and
vulnerable customers. We continued to build the digital confidence
of parents and guardians during 2022 to help keep their children
safe online through a partnership with Internet Matters, which
supported 1.4 million parents and guardians seeking advice during
the year. We implement age verification processes that restrict
access, where possible, to 18-rated content.

Through these initiatives, we supported over 1.6 million people
in 2022 with access to digital skills training and greater online
confidence.
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c) Making life better for the nation’s carers

In 2022, our work with Carers UK focused on using our digital
resources and expertise to help improve the lives of unpaid
carers, like the Jointly app (an app created by carers for carers).
We also supported the digital transformation of Carers UK and
championed the charity’s annual campaign to raise awareness
of the challenges unpaid carers face and make their valuable
contribution more visible. As part of our journey towards being
a best practice employer of unpaid carers, we launched our new
carers leave policy for our people, giving them b days of leave
a year to help with their caring responsibilities.

We supported a new charity initiative, Concerts for Carers, which
provides NHS staff and paid Care workers access to free tickets to
live events all across the U.K. as a means of promoting their mental
health and wellbeing. We provided 36,000 tickets to Concerts for
Carers in 2022.
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A better way to do business

Our employees

During the year, our people strategy focused on business
integration to foster a more diverse, equitable and inclusive
organisation that is committed to the wellbeing, development

and retention of our people, in addition to succession planning for
the future. We are committed to improving our gender and ethnicity
balance and ensuring that disabled employees can thrive at work.
To support this, we have created our ‘All in” strategy, which is
sponsored at an Executive level and is a key focus of the

Better Connections Plan.

Diversity, Equity and Inclusion
In March 2022, we launched our Diversity, Equity and Inclusion
(DE&I) strategy with the following ambitions for 2027

a. Move the dial on diversity by having gender parity in our
leadership population while driving towards gender parity across
the organisation, in addition to increasing the representation
of Global Majority! employees to a minimum of 15% leadership
and 25% across the business.

b. Make equity part of everything we do.

c. Putinclusion at the heart of how we do business.

We aim to track our performance as an integrated business against
the following indicators:

As at 31 December 2022 All Staff Leadership
Female employees 306% 32.8%
Global Majority’ employees 16.8% 126%

a) Moving the dial on diversity

We understand that diversity of thought, background and
experience is essential to drive business performance, and have
made progress during the year to increase the awareness of the
DE&I agenda across the organisation. Our aim is to create a fairer
future for our people, and we want our workforce to go ‘All in’.

We commit to do more, not less, and to address systemic inequity
and systemic barriers together for our people and the communities
we serve. During the year, we launched our harmonised family
friendly policy, which caters for a variety of situations such as
generous maternity, paternity, and adoption policies, in addition to
carer and neonatal leave to support our people when it matters.

b) Making equity part of what we do

We have made steady progress in embedding equity in our
practices and procedures. In addition to the family friendly policy,
we have implemented a trans-inclusive healthcare policy to provide
access to financial support for our people who need to transition.
Also, we committed to extending the private healthcare benefit to
all employees in 2023. We intend to continue to make our
healthcare policy even more inclusive by broadening our support
for diverse commmunities, as well as focusing on an inclusive hiring
transformation across the organisation.
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c) Putting inclusion at the heart of how we do business

We aim to build a fully inclusive culture, celebrating everybody’s
individuality and differences. We want our organisation to be a
place where people feel they can do the best work of their careers,
feel psychologically safe and empowered to make decisions for
the benefit of our business and customers.

To help us achieve our aim we have 6 employee networks: Enrich,
Proudly, The Women’s Network, The Neurodiversity Network, We
Care and Ultraviolet. Our networks provide an open forum where
employees have an opportunity to build community and belonging
in our organisation. The networks also provide guidance to
management on how we can be a leading, inclusive employer and
service provider. In 2022, our networks held a range of campaigns
and events including celebrations for International Women’s Day,
Carers Week, Neurodiversity Awareness Week, LGBTQ+ Pride,
Disabled Pride, South Asian Heritage month and Black History Month.

We have a statutory obligation to publish annual gender pay gap
reports for O2 and Virgin Media that detail our progress in this area.
In line with our commitment to equity and increasing transparency
we have also voluntarily disclosed our ethnicity pay gap for O2 and
Virgin Media for 2022, as well as publishing an overall gender and
ethnicity pay gap for Virgin Media O2.

Gender Pay Gap

Gender Pay Gap between the

average pay of men and women Virgin Virgin
As at 5th April 2022 02 Media Media 02
Mean hourly pay gap 106% -24% 2.0%
Median hourly pay gap 20.7% -08% 4.2%
Ethnicity Pay Gap?

Ethnicity Pay Gap between the

average pay of white colleagues

and Global Majority colleagues Virgin Virgin
As at 5th April 2022 02 Media Media 02
Mean hourly pay gap 136% 82% 10.3%
Median hourly pay gap 14.4% 18.8% 15.4%

There is further progress required to close both our ethnicity
and gender pay gaps. The biggest factor in both our gender and
ethnicity pay gaps is representation at senior levels. We have
made a commitment to increase leadership representation of
both women and global majority employees by 2027 as part

of our b-year DE&I strategy.

1. Global Majority is a collective term that first and foremost speaks to and encourages those so-called to think of themselves as belonging to the global majority.
It refers to people who are Black, Asian, Brown, dual-heritage, indigenous to the global south, and or have been racialised as ‘ethnic minorities’.
Globally, these groups currently represent approximately 85% of the world’s population making them the global majority now, and with current growth rates,
notwithstanding COVID-19 and its emerging variants, the global majority is set to remain so for the foreseeable future.

2. Ethnicity pay gap reporting is based on ethnicity as disclosed by our employees. As of 5 April O2 ethnicity disclosure was 78%, Virgin Media ethnicity disclosure

was 54% and Virgin Media O2’s ethnicity disclosure was 63%.
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Fair treatment in the workplace

We guarantee that all employees may exercise their employment
rights and do not tolerate any situations of forced labour, threats,
coercion, abuse, discrimination, violence, or intimidation in our
working environment. We guarantee the right of our employees

to belong to the trade union of their choice and we do not tolerate
any kind of retaliation or hostile action towards employees who
take part in trade union activities. We also have employment related
grievance policies and processes, to resolve issues and concerns
relating to an individual’s employment.

We are committed to employment policies that are based on
equal opportunities for all and the creation of a diverse and
inclusive environment. We support the health and wellbeing of
our employees and are committed to providing a range of
occupational health and employee support services.

Our policies and line manager guidance ensures fair treatment

of people with disabilities in relation to their recruitment, training,

and development, for example:

a. Reasonable adjustments and practical considerations relating
to disabilities.

b. Increasing the accessibility of our services making them more
inclusive for disabled people.

c. Importance of diversity and ensuring that discrimination does
not occur.

d. Importance of focusing on what people can do rather than
what they cannot and challenging stereotypes about people
with disabilities.

e. E-learning which is available to all our employees to highlight the
legal and behavioural aspects of Diversity, Equity and Inclusion.

Talent and retention

Our continued focus remains on talent, retention, capabilities, and the
skills of our people, including our future talent pool. We engaged a
number of individuals across the organisation to define our approach
to both talent management and leadership development. We are
now in the process of rolling out these approaches across the
organisation. Our Learning and Development team, and our
partnership with Linkedln Learning, continues to provide all of

our people with access to a range of learning content (technical,
professional and leadership), as well as the capability to promote
targeted learning to specific teams. During the year, we implemented
along- term incentive plan for the wider leadership team.

We have a ‘future careers’ programme including apprenticeship,
internship, and graduate programmes, that enable us to build a
future pipeline of talent for both leadership and technical specialist
positions. Attracting diverse talent is important to us as we are
aware of the industry challenge in this area. To address the
challenge, we actively participated specialist and diversity events as
well as utilising media channels that are dedicated to engaging with
this audience especially for our recruitment processes. We listened
to prospective candidates’ feedback and as a result have taken the
decision to revise the entry requirement making it more skills-based
testing without impacting the quality of hire.

In recognition of the impact of the wider economic crisis as
young people consider other alternatives to university education,
alongside the more than 40 apprenticeship schemes we already
offer, the business introduced five new schemes in digital
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marketing, cyber security, quantity surveying, network cabling
and DevOps, helping apprentices learn in-demand skills and get
into roles which would in some instances require a degree.

Employee wellbeing

Our people are not immune to the wider economic crisis and the
increasing cost of living. In addition to our family friendly policy, which
focuses on taking time away for moments that matter, our people
also have access to the ‘Unmind’ app, focused on mental health,
and a range of resources to support wellbeing overall. As a business
we recognise that financial hardship is likely to be worse for our
people on lower income and so we decided to offer a one-off
cost-of-living allowance of £1,400 to all employees earning a basic
salary of £35,000 with instalments paid between November 2022
and July 2023. Further details on our employee engagement are
discussed in the Corporate Governance Statement on page 86.

Engaging employees in sustainability

To ensure that our employees understand and integrate our Better
Connections Plan into their every day activities, we are ensuring
training is provided and that ESG responsibilities are linked to our
reward and recognition programme.

Employees are also encouraged to get involved in our strategy

by taking advantage of our new volunteering programme, Take Five,
which lets employees take five days of paid leave a year to volunteer
in communities nationwide. During the year, over 1,200 of Virgin
Media O2 employees gave their time to volunteer with local good
causes, in turn helping over 120,000 people.

Our customers

We commit to treating our customers fairly, providing clear and
transparent information about the products and services we offer,
including associated fees and charges. We make it easy for our
customers to communicate with us through multiple channels.

If our customers tell us they are dissatisfied, we act swiftly and
diligently to resolve any issues.

Customers put their trust in us to protect that data. We therefore
use all information in a responsible way and protect personal data
on our systems, ensuring it is kept private and safe, and is treated
in a way that is compliant with laws and regulations.

We remain focused on enhancing customer experience.

The primary way this is measured is Net Promoter Score (NPS),
which captures the proportion of customers who are promoters
less those who are detractors.

In January 2022, we announced we would not be re-introducing
E.U. roaming charges which shows a clear differentiating factor
against all other major U.K. mobile network operators. This was
against a backdrop where customers were restarting travel
following the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic. In February 2022,
we announced its decision to change the early disconnection
charge policy for customers moving home. Price increases in

the first quarter negatively impacted NPS, with the full recovery
for Cable Relationship NPS gained by the fourth quarter 2022
(+8pt improvement fourth quarter 2022 versus first quarter 2022).
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Cable Relationship NPS achieved the largest month on month
improvement in 12 years (+6pts) in November 2022, driven by
Speed boosts for 3.7 million customers, personalised customer
communications and improved sentiment towards customer
service. Install engineer NPS achieved +60 NPS for the first time in
November 2022 as the field team continue to push the boundaries
of customer experience; Contact Help journey NPS improved
+24pts from first quarter 2022 to fourth quarter 2022 via continued
multi-skilling, improved resource planning reducing wait times for
customers and introduction of new VOC programme allowing front
line advisors to receive instant feedback specific to interactions
they have with customers. Record monthly Cable NPS was also
achieved in Buy Purchase, Movers, Help and Fix Visit touchpoints
driven by top-down focus and significant process improvements.

In October 2022, we created a new Customer Office function with
the intention of providing increased dedicated focus on this area.

a) Accessibility and vulnerable customers

We believe that everyone should have access to the products and
services they need to thrive in a digital world and that technology
should be accessible to all. We want to help people in their homes,
workplaces and communities have access to and enjoy the social,
environmental and economic opportunities of connectivity.

b) Cost-of-living
With the significant effect of inflationary pressures on the cost of living

in 2022, Ofcom found in its annual affordability study that 8 million U.K.
households are having difficulty affording communications services.

In response, we have taken a number of steps to help ensure our
customers can access the services they need, by:

a. improving the availability, awareness and affordability of our
existing social broadband tariff — Essential Broadband - which is
aimed at people receiving Universal Credit;

b. adding fuel poverty, debt advice and financial support
organisations to existing zero-rated websites so customers can
access trusted advice without using their mobile data allowance.

c) Crisis response

We have worked hard to ensure that those impacted by war and
natural disaster overseas had free connectivity in order to access
essential services and stay in touch with loved ones — with a
particular focus on Ukraine and Pakistan.

We introduced free calls and texts to and from Ukraine from
February 2022 and removed charges for data use in Ukraine

— an offer we extended to December 2022. Through the National
Databank, we have also been able to provide free mobile data to
Ukrainian refugees arriving in the UK., alongside those from other
conflict zones. We also zero-rated a Ukrainian language education
website for school-age refugees based in the UK. and provided a
refugee recruitment support package.

Consolidated 45
Financial
Statements

Following the devastating floods in Pakistan, we credited back all
customer charges for mobile calls, texts and data used in Pakistan,
and international calls and texts to mobiles and landlines from the
U.K. to Pakistan, between 29 August and 17 September 2022.

We also donated a total of £850,000 to Ukraine and Pakistan
humanitarian appeals via the Disasters Emergency Committee (DEC)
and other charities. We also joined forces with U.K. charity Jangala
which will make available ‘Big Boxes’, briefcase-sized devices that
transform internet connectivity into Wi-Fi, to vulnerable people.

Our suppliers

Ethical sourcing

We aim to establish open, trusted and transparent relationships
with our business partners and suppliers. And we expect our
suppliers to maintain the highest ethical and environmental
standards, in accordance with our Code of Conduct. We establish
clear sustainability expectations of our suppliers, integrating ESG
goals into our procurement processes — focusing on ongoing
training and engagement. When we make a major purchase,
suppliers are contractually committed to set significant carbon
reduction goals, uphold our supply chain sustainability standards,
and increase their contribution to society.

We take a zero-tolerance approach to modern slavery and
human trafficking in our operations. During the year, we have
undertaken modern slavery risk management reviews with
high-risk suppliers. Our annual Modern Slavery Statement details
our due diligence activities on this issue and can be found here:
https://news.virginmediao2.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/06
Virgin-Media-02-2021-MSA-Statement.pdf

We respect and actively promote nationally and internationally
recognised human and employment rights, including those contained
in the United Nations Universal Declaration of Human Rights, and
the principles related to the rights recognised by the International
Labour Organization and its Eight Fundamental Conventions.

The SRB Committee and Virgin Media O2 Executive Management
Team maintain oversight of supply chain sustainability management,
and we also engage with sector initiatives such as the Joint Audit
Cooperation to develop common sector sustainability standards.


https://news.virginmediao2.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/Virgin-Media-O2-2021-MSA-Statement.pdf
https://news.virginmediao2.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/Virgin-Media-O2-2021-MSA-Statement.pdf
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Sustainability performance data table’

Environment Social Governance

Emissions Digital inclusion Employees

Scope 1and 2 emissions (Market-based):
71,393 Metric Tonnes of CO,e

Scope 1and 2 emissions (Location based):
243,043 Metric Tonnes of CO,e

Number of digitally excluded people
connected: 18,5672

Total number of employees: 17,054

Energy

Total energy consumption:

1,171,285 Megawatt Hours (MWh)

Total consumption of Renewable energy:
977,697 Megawatt Hours (MWh)

Waste

Total waste produced in the company:
5,053 Metric Tonnes (T)

Total Recycled waste:

4,252 Metric Tonnes (T)

Circular actions
Number of circular actions undertaken
by customers: 2,405,203

Digital skills
Number of people benefiting from
programmes in digital skills: 1,636,457

Employee turnover

Total Employees leaving the business:
4,580

Voluntary leaves: 2,627

Involuntary leaves: 1,953

Gender balance
Men 11,813, Women 5,217, Other 24

Senior leadership by gender:
33.7% Women directors

Health and Safety Absentee Rate?:
(total number of working days lost due
to absenteeism of any cause against the
total available annual work days) — 0.034
Injury Rate? (total number of
occupational accidents with sick leave
against the total hours worked annually,
multiplied by 200,000) - 0.36
Occupational Disease Rate2:

(total number of occupational illnesses
against the total hours worked annually,
multiplied by 200,000) - 14.3

1. For the period 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022.

2. Definitions aligned to International Labour Office reporting.
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Streamlined Energy and Carbon Report
We are pleased to report on our energy and carbon report for
the financial year ended 31 December 2022.

The scope of the report includes our company owned stores,
all corporate sites, switch and data centres, and cell sites (mast
and antennae sites), it does not include O2 Franchise stores;
these are separate legal entities.

47

Emissions factors have been taken from the Department of Business,
Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) 2022 Conversion Factors.

2021 carbon figures have been restated in line with Virgin Media
0O2’s environmental reporting policy and have not been reassured.
A more accurate electricity consumption estimation approach for
masts operating on third party sites has been implemented and

backdated. In addition, the residual electricity grid mix emissions

The calculation approach is based on invoicing (wWhere applicable)
and estimation where the scope includes emission sources outside
our operational control (for example landlord supplied sites).

Virgin Media O2 Emissions

factor is now being used for non-renewable electricity consumption
used in the masts operating on third party sites.

2022 2021
(tCO.e) (tCOe)
Scope 1 - Direct emissions from activities owned or controlled by the Company. This is low
impact and fuel used is primarily for space heating (gas) and fuel used in standby generators (diesel)
Static fuel 5,426 5,331
Fugitive gases 13,184 1110
Vehicle fuel 14,020 13,744
Total 32,630 30,185
Scope 2 - Indirect emissions into the atmosphere associated with purchased, electricity, heat,
steam and cooling. Emissions from electricity consumed across the following site types (cells, switch
sites, offices and stores)
Electricity (including renewables) — Location based 210,413 216,376
Electricity (excluding renewables) — Market based 38,763 52,994
Scope 1and 2 - Total (Location based) 243,043 245,661
Scope 1and 2 - Total (Market based) 71,393 83,179
1.78 kg 231kg
Intensity Ratio (Scope 1 and 2 Market-based emissions per petabyte of data) CO,¢/PB CO.¢e/PB
Scope 3 a consequence of an indirect source and not Scope 2 (e.g. business travel by vehicles not
owned by the Company). Business travel (business mileage, flights etc.)!
Air Travel 1,346 134
Land Travel 4,212 1,681

1S014001:2015

1S014001:2015

and GHG and GHG
Methodology for scope data Protocol Protocol
Total Energy Consumption (MWh) 1,171,285 1137068
Carbon offsets (tCO,e) 0.0 00

1. 2021 business travel emissions are based on the tank-to-wheel approach, 2022 business travel emissions are based on the well-to-wheel approach.
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SUSTAINABILITY

Virgin Media O2 is committed to supporting the UK’s roadmap to
net zero and enabling a zero-carbon future. Here is an overview of
our progress made during 2022 against our objectives:

Net Zero: We remain on a science-based target pathway and on
course for our 2025 target to reduce operational (Scopes 1and 2)
emissions by 60%, with a 18% reduction in 2021 and a 29%
reduction in 2022 against our 2020 baseline. This was underpinned
by the following performance:

a. Renewable energy: We continued to source 100% renewable
electricity wherever we control the bill and focused on non-
renewable electricity consumption from masts operating on
third party sites. In addition, we were able to ensure 901 masts
operating on third party sites are on renewable electricity
supplies and for the first time we have purchased renewable
energy certificates (REGOs) to match to 356% of the non-
renewable electricity consumption, helping to reduce Scope 2
emissions by 38% since 2020.

b. Fugitive gases: Emissions from fugitive gases increased by 19%
in 2022 compared to 2021 though remain 30% below our 2020
baseline. The year-on-year increase in 2022 is primarily due to

fire suppression systems discharges where inert gas is not used.

In response we are increasing our investment in replacing the
gases with inert alternatives to drive emissions down in line with
our net zero ambitions.

c. Fleet fuel: In 2022 we welcomed the first 76 electric vehicles
into our van fleet as we work towards a full electric vehicle
transition by the end of 2030. Due to the global supply chain
issues facing the electric vehicle and wider automotive markets,
we have faced significant challenges in receiving ordered
vehicles so have not seen a reduction in fuel consumption in line
with original expectations. With an increase in the overall size of
the fleet to support our customers, we have seen a 2% increase
in fuel emissions year on year. We expect to see this decline in
line with our emissions reduction targets as we increase our
electric vehicle transition.

d. Static fuel: Emissions from static fuel sources increased by 2%
year on year but remains 10% down against our 2020 baseline.
While emissions from gas heating decreased, there was a 20%
increase in emissions from diesel linked to generators used to
ensure our mobile network continues to function.
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e. Energy efficiency and reduction: Alongside our market-based
net zero goal, energy efficiency and reduction remain a key
priority for Virgin Media O2. During 2022 we have focused on
the following initiatives:

i. Procuring more efficient equipment across all areas of the
business and putting energy consumption as a key decision
factor in all business cases.

ii. Beginning a three-year programme of decommissioning
of legacy fixed line voice equipment.

iii. Auditing technical sites to identify and remove other legacy
kit and consolidate products to more modern and efficient
platforms.

iv. Extending our usage of RAN Power Management
technologies to more masts and more hours of the day.

v. Continuing to rollout free air cooling and more robust battery

backup solutions across the Radio Network.
Proactively shutting down under-utilised 3G carriers as we
move towards sunsetting of 3G technologies.

. Deploying new site monitoring capabilities to optimise

technical site cooling and enable raising of set points in our
data centres.

Vi.

vi
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Task Force on Climate-Related

Financial Disclosures

(TCFD)

As shown in our Principal Risk and Uncertainties,
climate change is the single greatest sustainability
challenge both the industry and the world faces today.

The role that we play in industry has an impact on the environment
we live and operate in - it is important we recognise our part in
reversing this impact and delivering a low-carbon economy.

This is our second voluntary disclosure, in readiness for mandatory
reporting starting in our 2023 Annual Report, and this report explains
how we identify, manage and mitigate climate-related risks and
opportunities, in line with the Taskforce for Climate-Related Financial
Disclosure’s recommmendations. We have structured the information
in accordance with the eleven TCFD recommendations (2021
version), setting out our responses to the four thematic areas:
Governance, Strategy, Risk Management, and Metrics and

Targets. Where we are not yet in a position to fully align with TCFD
recommendations, we have stated our ambitions for improvement.

For more information on our climate change principal risks please
see the principal risks and uncertainties section of this report.

TCFD alignment roadmap

During the year, we undertook a range of activities to improve
our alignment with TCFD recommendations, strengthen internal
processes and reinforce our ability to manage climate risks and
opportunities. In each section, we share the progress we have
made as well as areas for improvements, so that we can ensure
our organisation is adaptable, resilient and able to thrive in a
low-carbon future.

Climate strategy and targets

In 2022, we launched our new sustainability strategy, the Better
Connections Plan, and announced a new, consolidated net zero
goal for 2040 across our value chain. We also set a second carbon
goal to help our customers avoid 20 million tonnes of CO, by 2025,
aiming to deliver environmental benefits for society that outweigh
our own impacts. Our greatest potential for influencing others lies
in our promotion of a shift towards low carbon ways of living;
supporting other businesses to reach their net zero ambitions; and
helping to accelerate the U.K’s shift towards a zero-carbon future.

Biodiversity

While this TCFD statement focuses on climate risk and opportunity,
it is clear our changing climate is interconnected with the Earth’s
natural ecosystems: extreme weather events and rising temperatures
impact biological wealth in innumerable ways. We take a range of
actions to mitigate any risks to nature that our operations may pose,
including taking precautionary measures to respect biodiversity
during construction and complying with planning legislation and
industry best practice for network development. Over the coming
years, we will continue to develop our management and reporting
of nature-related risks and opportunities.
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Governance

Board oversight of climate-related risks and opportunities 2022 Board updates

Our JV Board has overall responsibility for identifying opportunities + The Board and EMT approved our new sustainability strategy

to create value for the Group and its stakeholders and maintaining and its associated climate targets. Bi-annual progress updates

sufficient oversight to effectively manage and mitigate the principal against our 2025 strategic goals will be provided to the Board.

risks to the business. The day-to-day management and decision- + To improve understanding and awareness of climate risks, we

making of the Group is delegated to the Executive Management invited an external agency to facilitate climate science immersion

Team, overseen by the JV Board and its associated committees. sessions with our EMT and also delivered a TCFD update to the
EMT in November 2022.

The Audit Committee — a Board delegated authority — oversees + The Sustainability team report Objectives and Key Results

business risks, in addition to financial and non-financial reporting, (OKRs) on the net zero programme to the EMT on a monthly

internal control and compliance processes. We apply a risk-based pasis — highlighting any issues or risks to the delivery of the

governance approach, with increased oversight for the more programme goals and targets.

significant risks of the business. During 2022, we implemented
a new climate risk principal risk category into our corporate risk
register, so climate risk will now be routinely monitored by the
Audit Committee and Executive Management Team, alongside
the Group’s other priority risks.

The Sustainability and Responsible Business (SRB) Committee

is responsible for overseeing all ESG activity and material risks —
including climate-related risks — acting on behalf of the Executive
Management Team (EMT). It maintains delegated authority for all
decisions regarding the delivery and communication of the
sustainability strategy and our climate goals, providing biannual
updates to the Board and annual updates to the Audit Committee.

The Environment Steering Committee, one of three specialist
steering committees set up to support the SRB Committee,
assumes the overall management of all environmental aspects of
our business, including performance, plans and risks. It is sponsored
by EMT member Jeanie York, our Chief Technology Officer.
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Climate risk governance

JV Board

Retains overall responsibility for
identifying opportunities to create
value and managing and mitigating

principal risks for the company.
Executive Management Team 2 2 Audit Committee

Day-to-day management of Responsible for the
the company, including vision, non-executive oversight of the
strategic direction and budget company's risk management
setting with regards to framework, process and
sustainability and responsible governance approach. Is

business. Agrees the risk SRB Committee informed of the company's
appetite of the business, priority risks and associated

provides executive oversight on mitigation plans. Periodically
priority rjgks, anq d(ive$ action Acts as the Executive Authority for upda_tes_ ‘Fhe Board
to mitigate priority risks. Virgin Media 02 regarding the delivery on significant risk
of the sustainability and responsible management matters.
R business strategy, commmunications ﬂ
plans and project prioritisation. Takes

an advisory role on vision, strategic
direction and budget setting. Identifies
and manages material risks and
opportunities for the business.

J' 1‘ Shares reportable risks

Environment Steering Committee

Manages all decisions regarding
environmental strategy,
communications plans and project
prioritisation. Decisions, issues or risks
are escalated to the SRB Committee.

More information about the composition and responsibilities of our
key governance structures of Virgin Media O2 can be found in the
Corporate Governance section on page 85.
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TASK FORCE ON CLIMATE-RELATED FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES (TCFD)

Climate risk governance

Key achievements and next steps

2022 progress

2023 focus areas

Consolidated and aligned our
previous businesses’ ESG
structures, chaired or
sponsored by EMT members.

Aim to formally incorporate
climate risk and opportunity
management into the Terms
of Reference of the Audit
Committee and Environment
Steering Committee.

Updated governance bodies
including the JV Board and EMT
on sustainability strategy,
climate science and TCFD
requirements.

Include climate-related risks
and opportunities as a
standing item in the biannual
Board and annual Audiit
Committee updates,
enhancing climate awareness
and understanding.

Improved oversight of climate-
related risk by incorporating a
new specific climate risk in our
risk register — thereby ensuring
it will be overseen by the
Board-delegated Audit
Committee as part of our risk
management governance.

Engage with our Finance and
Strategy teams to embed
sustainability considerations,
and climate risk specifically,
into the our strategy, financial
planning and business
decision-making processes.

Management’s role in assessing and managing
climate-related risks and opportunities

The EMT member who leads the delivery of the sustainability
strategy is the Chief Commmunications and Corporate Affairs
Officer (CCCAO). Daily management of climate-related risks
and opportunities is undertaken by the Sustainability team,
which reports to the CCCAO.

We replicated the EMT climate science immersion workshop with
the SRB Committee (which includes representatives from all areas
of the business), Corporate Affairs team, and wider employee
population during 2022. We also marked the UN Global Climate
Conference COP27 with a series of virtual events for all employees
to ensure we are continuously improving awareness and
understanding of climate issues.

To ensure that the Environment Steering Committee receives
relevant climate-related information, Sustainability team members
— who are also members of the Committee — attend best practice
webinars and conferences and retain membership of industry
forums. Additionally, environmental legislation is tracked through
our Environmental Management System (EMS), complemented
by an annual legislative compliance review, and reported to the
Steering Committee. Any further relevant environmental targets,
performance, risks or issues that require consideration or action
by the Committee are shared by the Sustainability team.

Key achievement and next steps

2022 progress 2023 focus areas

Initiated climate awareness and
engagement workshops with
relevant governance bodies
and the wider employee
population.

Continue to engage and
upskill our management in
understanding climate risks,
issues and opportunities.
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TASK FORCE ON CLIMATE-RELATED FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES (TCFD)

Our Strategy

Short, medium and long-term climate-related risks

and opportunities

We are collectively facing a climate emergency with the earth
warming at an unprecedented rate and the effects already being felt
across the globe. We know that climate change has the potential
to impact our business and we have taken steps to understand the
associated likelihood, possible impacts, and consequences of both
physical and transitional climate-related risks, as well as considering
any climate-related opportunities that may arise for our business.
We have sought to integrate the risk and reward relationship into
our decision-making process as we future proof our business.

In 2022 we undertook new analysis to identify three physical and
seven transition risks, and four climate-related opportunities that we
believe could materially impact our business, from a commercial and
operational perspective. This included identifying key upstream and
downstream dependencies across our operations and value chain,

mapping these against a wider understanding of climate risks and
evaluating them against a range of different climate scenarios. As a
U.K.-based business with a global supply chain, climate change will
impact our supply chain in different ways in different places and we
plan to undertake further analysis to identify how the identified risks
present themselves based on sector and, in particular, geography.
In January 2023, our shortlist of ten risks and opportunities was
validated and prioritised by the SRB Committee.

Time horizons (based upon leading practice) of ‘short-term’,
‘medium-term’ and ‘long-term’ shown in this section represent
the following in years:

Medium-term
31010 years

Short-term
3 years

Time horizons Long-term

>10 years

Physical risks

Physical risks are driven by extreme weather and long-term shifts in climate patterns that have direct impacts.

Risk type Risk title Risk description Financial impact Time horizon
Acute and Damage to Risk that increased frequency in addition a. Decrease inrevenue Medium to
chronic infrastructure and to the severity of extreme weather events from lower sales long term
disruption to (such as flooding, storms and wildfires) b. Increase in operating
operations due to and longer-term shifts in weather patterns costs from repairs
the physical impacts (such as sea-level rise, increased c. Early retirement of
of climate change precipitation and extreme heat) result in existing assets due to
damage to our physical and operational frequent damage
assets including network infrastructure, d. Increase in insurance
data centres etc. This leads to business premiums
disruption such as network services outages
and restricted services, and more frequent
repairs are necessary.
Acute and Disruption to Risk that increased frequency and severity a. Decrease in revenue Medium to
chronic workforce due to of extreme weather events (such as extreme from lower output long term
the physical impacts heat, extreme rainfall storms or flooding) b. Increase in costs from
of climate change have negative consequences on the negative impacts on
productivity and safety of our people, workforce
leading to delays in the roll out of our (absenteeism)
services and increased customer c. Threat to business
dissatisfaction. continuity
Acute and Disruption to Risk that increased frequency in addition a. Decrease in revenue Medium to
chronic suppliers due to the to the severity of extreme weather events from lower sales long term
physical impacts of (such as flooding, storms and wildfires) and b. Threat to business
climate change longer-term shifts in weather patterns (such continuity
as sea level rise, increased precipitation and
extreme heat) disrupt the operations of our
suppliers, leading to disruption to third-party
operated services, such as call centres,
and delays in product delivery.
Key:

Acute - Risk of increasing severity of extreme weather events.
Chronic - Risk of longer-term changes and variability in weather patterns.
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b) Transition risks

54

Transition risks are driven by policy, regulation, technology development, reputation, and market shift as a result of goals to decarbonise.

Risk type Risk title Risk description Financial impact Time horizon

Market Rising input prices Risk of increasing volatility in input prices a. Increase in production Long term
leading to increased (such as raw materials and energy) leading and operating costs
production and to fluctuating production and operational e.g. energy prices
operating costs costs. For example, timing of energy policy b. Reduction in profit

changes and availability and demand for margins
different raw materials as a result of market

shifts may lead to higher energy prices and

the risk of rising third-party costs associated

with the manufacturing of handsets and

wearables.

Technology Increased costs Risk of increased research and development a. Increase in capital Short to
from the transition to (R&D) costs, associated with investment in investments required medium
lower emissions new and alternative technologies to enable for technology term
technology more efficient services and production development

processes, necessary to meet emissions b. Reduction in profit
reductions targets. margins

Policy and Introduction of Risk of the introduction of a formal carbon a. Reduction in profit Medium

legal carbon pricing pricing system in jurisdictions where we margins term
impacting operating operate which results in having to pay for b. Increase in production
costs our GHG emissions - leading to increased and operating costs

operating costs.
Enhanced exposure Risk of enhanced exposure to climate- a. Increase in potential for Medium
to climate-related related litigation as a result of more stringent climate litigation term
regulatory changes legislation and mandates on emissions b. Increase in production
and litigation associated with our services and products. costs
c. Increase in staffing
costs and investment
to support reporting
functions
d. Loss of brand loyalty

Reputation Shifts in consumer Risk that we fail to keep up with competitors’ a. Reduction in revenue Short to
preferences towards climate action leading to consumers and market share medium
greener Telecom switching to Telecom providers with b. Decrease in access to term
providers stronger ESG credentials, meaning lose capital

market share and in turn becomes less c. Loss of brand loyalty

desirable to potential investors.
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Risk type Risk title Risk description Financial impact Time horizon

Reputation Failure to meet Risk that we fail to meet our net zero 2040 a. Damage to reputation Medium to
emission reduction target through missing our own Scope 1 b. Increase in potential for long term
targets across and 2 targets directly or being implicated by climate litigation
Scope 1,2 and 3 third-party dependencies and associated c. Decrease in access to
emissions Scope 3 emissions (for manufacturing in capital

addition to licensing products). We may d. Decrease in employee
fail to meet targets as a result of changing retention rates and
business priorities, redirections of budget ability to attract talent
funding, or through third-parties failing to e. Loss of brand loyalty
reduce their own Scope 1and 2 emissions

in line with our Scope 3 supplier climate

targets. This could lead to reputational

impacts and effects on internal and external

stakeholder brand loyalty. Failure to meet

such targets would also mean that we are

unable to obtain sustainability-linked

financing or further leverage green finance.

Market Disruption to our Risk that geopolitical volatility, spurred on by a. Increase in production Medium to
supply chain due to the impacts of climate change, disrupts our and distribution costs long term
geopolitical volatility supply chain, including the delivery of b. Reduction in profit
from climate-related handsets and accessories. As a result, we margins
impacts are unable to meet customer demand for c. Loss of brand loyalty

products and experiences disruption to
services, increasing costs and reducing
market share.

Key:

Policy and legal - risk of existing and emerging climate-related regulations, as well as climate-related litigation claims
Markets - risk of shifts in supply and demand as markets respond and react to climate change
Technology - risk of disruption to parts of the economic system caused 